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Dear Texas History Lover,

Texas has a special place in history and in the minds of people throughout the world. It has a mystique that no 
other state and few foreign countries have ever equaled. Texas also has the distinction of being the only state in 
America that was an independent country for almost 10 years, free and separate, recognized as a sovereign gov-
ernment by the United States, France and England. The pride and confidence of Texans started in those years, 
and the “Lone Star” emblem, a symbol of those feelings, was developed through the adventures and sacrifices of 
those that came before us.

The Handbook of Texas Online is a digital project of the Texas State Historical Association.  The online handbook 
offers a full-text searchable version of the complete text of the original two printed volumes (1952), the six-volume 
printed set (1996), and approximately 400 articles not included in the print editions due to space limitations.  The 
Handbook of Texas Online officially launched on February 15, 1999, and currently includes nearly 27,000 en-
tries that are free and accessible to everyone.  The development of an encyclopedia, whether digital or print, is 
an inherently collaborative process.  The Texas State Historical Association is deeply grateful to the contributors, 
Handbook of Texas Online staff, and Digital Projects staff whose dedication led to the launch of the Handbook of 
Civil War Texas in April 2011.    

As the sesquicentennial of the war draws to a close, the Texas State Historical Association is offering a special e-
book to highlight the role of Texans in the Union and Confederate war efforts.  Additionally, this e-book will connect 
readers to the Handbook of Civil War Texas website that includes more than 800 entries relating to the war in the 
Lone Star State.  Many of the new entries are enriched with illustrations provided by the Texas State Library and 
Archives Commission in Austin, and the Lawrence T. Jones III Texas Photographs Collection at Southern Method-
ist University.  Civil War in the Lone Star State: A Handbook of Texas Companion offers selected entries from The 
Handbook of Civil War Texas and articles from the Southwestern Historical Quarterly to provide a better under-
standing of individuals and events such as:  

•	 John Bell Hood

•	 Edmund Jackson Davis

•	 Battle of Sabine Pass

•	 Battle of Galveston

•	 Juneteenth

At 4:30 on the morning of April 12, 1861, the Confederate States of America artillery opened fire on United States 
troops in Fort Sumter, South Carolina, beginning the American Civil War. Texans, who had voted overwhelmingly 
in February 1861 to secede from the Union and then watched their state join the Confederacy in March, thus be-
came involved in a four-year conflict that would take the lives of many and leave none untouched. Texas escaped 
much of the terrible destruction of the war for a simple reason—United States troops never managed to invade 
and occupy the state’s interior. Nevertheless; Texans paid a huge price for the
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war, primarily in terms of lives lost and ruined in the Confederate Army and in the privations of families left at 
home. The only Texans who benefited significantly from the war were the state’s approximately 200,000 black 
slaves who gained freedom at the close of the conflict in 1865.

For more than a century, the Texas State Historical Association has played a leadership role in Texas history re-
search and education, helping to identify, collect, preserve, and tell the stories of Texas. It has now entered into a 
new collaboration with the University of Texas at Austin to carry on and expand its work. In the coming years these 
two organizations, with their partners and members, will create a collaborative whole that is greater than the sum 
of its parts. The collaboration will provide passion, talent, and long-term support for the dissemination of scholarly 
research, educational programs for the K-12 community, and opportunities for public discourse about the complex 
issues and personalities of our heritage. 

The TSHA’s core programs include the Texas Almanac, the Southwestern Historical Quarterly, the Handbook of 
Texas Online, the TSHA Press, and an Education Program that reaches out to students and teachers at all lev-
els throughout the state. The central challenge before the TSHA is to seize the unprecedented opportunities of 
the digital age in order to reshape how history Texas State Historical Association will be accessed, understood, 
preserved, disseminated, and taught in the twenty-first century. In the coming years, we will capitalize on these 
momentous opportunities to expand the scope and depth of our work in ways never before possible. In the midst 
of this rapid change, the Texas State Historical Association will continue to provide a future for our heritage and to 
ensure that the lessons of our history continue to serve as a resource for the people of Texas. I encourage you to 
join us today as a member of the Texas State Historical Association, and in doing so, you will be part of a unique 
group of people dedicated to standing as vanguards of our proud Texas heritage and will help us continue to de-
velop innovative programs that bring history to life.

With Texas Pride, 

Brian A. Bolinger				  
CEO 						    
Texas State Historical Association		

Randolph “Mike” Campbell
Chief Historian
Texas State Historical Association
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I. Civil War
Written by Ralph A. Wooster

The sectional controversies that divided the North and South in the 1850s deeply troubled Texans. While most 
Texans had a strong attachment to the Union that they worked so hard to join in 1845, they expressed increasing 
concern over the attacks upon Southern institutions by Northern political leaders. Although only one Texas family in 
four owned slaves, most Texans opposed any interference with the institution of slavery, which they believed neces-
sary for the continued growth of the state.

Many Texans considered the election of Abraham Lincoln to the 
presidency (November 1860) as a threat to slavery. They urged 
Governor Sam Houston to call a convention of the people to 
determine what course of action the state should take. Hous-
ton, devoted both to Texas and the Union, paid little heed to 
these requests, refusing to take any step that might aid seces-
sion. The demands for a convention increased, however, with 
the secession of South Carolina in December 1860 and the 
calling of state secession conventions in Mississippi, Florida, 
Alabama, Georgia, and Louisiana in early January. A group of 
secessionist leaders, including O. M. Roberts, John S. (Rip) 
Ford, George M. Flournoy, and William P. Rogers, issued an 
address to the people calling for the election of delegates to 
a state Secession Convention in early January. Houston at-
tempted to forestall the convention by calling a special session of the legislature and recommending that it refuse to 
recognize the convention. Instead, the legislature gave approval to the convention, on the condition that the people 
ratify its outcome by a final vote.

The convention, which assembled in Austin on January 28, 
1861, was dominated by secessionists. On February 1 the 
delegates adopted an ordinance of secession by a vote 
of 166 to 8. This ordinance was approved by the voters of 
the state, 46,153 to 14,747, on February 23. The conven-
tion reassembled in early March, declared Texas out of the 
Union, and adopted a measure uniting the state with other 
Southern states in the newly formed Confederate States of 
America. Governor Houston, who refused to recognize the 
authority of the convention to take this action, refused to 
take an oath of allegiance to the new government, where-
upon the convention declared the office of governor vacant 
and elevated Lieutenant Governor Edward Clark to the 
position. President Lincoln offered to send troops to as-
sist Houston if he would resist the convention, but Houston 
rejected the offer rather than bring on civil conflict within the 
state. He retired to his home in Huntsville, where he died on 
July 26, 1863.

While the campaign for ratification of the secession ordinance was being waged in mid-February, the Committee 
of Public Safety assembled by the secession convention took steps to take over federal property in the state. The 
committee opened negotiations with Maj. Gen. David E. Twiggs, the commander of United States troops stationed 
in Texas. Twiggs, an aging Georgian in poor health, was awaiting orders from the War Department. On the morn-
ing of February 16, Benjamin McCulloch, a veteran Texas Ranger and Mexican War hero and now colonel of Texas 
cavalry, led at least 500 volunteers into San Antonio, where they surrounded Twiggs and his headquarters garrison. 
Twiggs agreed to surrender all federal property in Texas and evacuate the 2,700 Union troops scattered in frontier 
forts throughout the state.

The Committee of Public Safety authorized the recruiting of volunteer troops during late February and March 1861. 
In addition to troops recruited by Ben McCulloch, regiments of cavalry were enrolled by Henry E. McCulloch, Ben’s 
younger brother, and John S. Ford, veteran ranger captain and explorer. The firing on Fort Sumter in April 1861 and 
the subsequent call for volunteers by Confederate president
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Jefferson Davis stimulated efforts by Texas authorities to raise additional troops. Governor Clark divided the state 
first into six and later into eleven military districts for recruiting and organizing the troops requested by Confederate 
authorities.

By the end of 1861, 25,000 Texans were in the Confederate army. Two-thirds of these were in the cavalry, the 
branch of service preferred by Texans. Lt. Col. Arthur Fremantle of the British Coldstream Guards, who visited Texas 
during the war, observed this fondness for cavalry service: “it was found very difficult to raise infantry in Texas,” 
he said, “as no Texan walks a yard if he can help it.” Governor Clark observed that “the predilection of Texans for 
cavalry service, founded as it is upon their peerless horsemanship, is so powerful that they are unwilling in many 
instances to engage in service of any other description unless required by actual necessity.”

Francis R. Lubbock, who defeated Clark by a narrow margin in the 1861 
gubernatorial election, worked closely with Confederate authorities to meet 
manpower needs as the war expanded. Recruitment became more difficult 
as some of the early enthusiasm waned. The passage of a general con-
scription law by the Confederate Congress in April 1862 momentarily gave 
impetus to volunteering. Under this law all white males between the ages 
of eighteen and thirty-five were liable for military service. In September the 
upper age limit was raised to forty-five, and in February 1864 the age limits 
were extended to seventeen and fifty. The Confederate conscription laws 
did contain many exemptions, however, and for a time conscripted men 
could hire substitutes.

Approximately 90,000 Texans saw military service in the war. Governor 
Lubbock reported to the legislature in November 1863 that the army num-
bered 90,000 Texas residents, but this figure seems high for Texans in 
service at any one time. The 1860 federal census lists 92,145 white males 
between the ages of eighteen and forty-five years living in the state. Allowing for a slight increase in population dur-
ing the four years of the war and considering that some Texans younger than eighteen and older than fifty served, 
one may say that between 100,000 and 110,000 Texans were potential soldiers.

Two-thirds of the Texans enrolled in the military spent the war in the 
Southwest, either defending the state from Indian attacks and Union 
invasion or participating in expansionist moves into New Mexico Territory. 
One regiment, recruited mainly in the  area, served under the colorful 
Rip Ford in South Texas. Ford commanded the military district of the Rio 
Grande, which extended from the mouth of the river for more than 1,000 
miles to above El Paso. During the course of the war, Ford’s men battled 
Union invaders, hostile Comanches, and Mexican raiders led by Juan N. 
Cortina.

Other Texas regiments patrolled North and West Texas. In May 1861 
Col. William C. Young and the Eleventh Texas Cavalry, recruited in North 
Texas, crossed the Red River and captured federal forts Arbuckle, Cobb, 
and Washita. Another regiment, enrolled originally as state troops and 
known as the Frontier Regiment, patrolled Northwest Texas between 
the Red River and the Rio Grande. The regiment, commanded first by 
Col. James M. Norris and later Col. James E. McCord, was transferred 
to Confederate service as the Forty-sixth Texas Cavalry. Part of the regiment was later moved to the Houston area, 
and its place on the frontier was taken by state troops commanded by Brig. Gen. James W. Throckmorton, who was 
appointed commander of the northern military district by state authorities.
Texans played a major role in Confederate efforts to expand into New Mexico Territory. In June 1861 four companies 
of Ford’s cavalry, under the command of Lt. Col. John R. Baylor, were ordered to occupy the extreme western part 
of Texas. Baylor reached Fort Bliss at El Paso in early July and later in the 
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month moved into New Mexico. He occupied the small town of Mesilla, located on the left bank of the Rio Grande 
about forty miles north of El Paso. After a small skirmish, federal troops commanded by Maj. Isaac Lynde surren-
dered Fort Fillmore, on the opposite bank of the Rio Grande. On August 1, 1861, Baylor decreed the existence of 
the Confederate Territory of Arizona, with its capital at Mesilla and himself as the military governor.

Meanwhile, Henry H. Sibley, a West Point graduate and veteran soldier, 
convinced President Davis that the Confederates could capture New Mex-
ico and Arizona. Sibley was commissioned brigadier general with orders 
to raise and equip a brigade of cavalry to drive federal forces from New 
Mexico. In August he established his headquarters in San Antonio, where 
he began recruiting men for the “Army of New Mexico.” In early Novem-
ber the brigade, consisting of three regiments, began the long march to El 
Paso, nearly 700 miles distant. Sibley’s brigade reached El Paso on De-
cember 14. On January 11, 1862, it marched to Mesilla, where Sibley as-
sumed the command of Baylor’s forces. Sibley moved northward along the 
west bank of the Rio Grande to Fort Craig, where he encountered Union 
forces commanded by Col. Edward R. S. Canby, perhaps Sibley’s brother-
in-law. The Confederates won a battle at nearby Valverde ford but were 
not strong enough to capture the fort. Sibley decided to bypass the fort and 
move northward to capture Albuquerque and Santa Fe. Morale in his army 
was low. Commissary supplies were virtually exhausted, the weather was 
bitterly cold, and many of the men were highly critical of Sibley himself. On March 26 his men fought a spirited battle 
with Colorado militia at Apache Canyon to the east of Santa Fe. Two days later a larger battle was fought in Glorieta 
Pass between federals led by Col. Maj. John M. Chivington and Texans commanded by Col. William R. Scurry. In 
the fierce engagement the Texans drove the federals from the field. Late that afternoon, however, Scurry’s sup-
ply train was captured by Union forces. The loss of the supply train was a major blow to Sibley’s plans. With Union 
forces receiving reinforcements from Colorado and California, Sibley determined to retreat down the Rio Grande. 
By early May the Confederates were back at Fort Bliss, where Sibley issued an address praising his men for their 
sacrifices. Many of the Texans who served under Sibley blamed the commander for their failure and expressed the 
view that better leadership would have brought success to the campaign.

The defense of the Texas coastline was more successful than the New Mexico invasion. Brig. Gen. Earl Van Dorn, 
commander of the Texas district from April to September 1861, organized defense companies, authorized the use 
of slave labor for building fortifications, and worked to secure heavy cannons for coastal defense. His successor 
as district commander, Brig. Gen. Paul Octave Hébert, also made efforts to secure heavy ordnance, but with only 
limited success. Hébert concluded that he would be unable to prevent a landing on the coast and determined to fight 
the enemy in the interior.

In November 1861 Union naval forces began a series of harassing activities along the Texas coast. The Confeder-
ate patrol schooner Royal Yacht was partially burned, and Confederate positions near Aransas Pass, Port Lavaca, 
and Indianola were shelled. The naval blockade of the Texas coastline was intensified in 1862; the United States 
bark Arthur, commanded by Lt. John W. Kittredge, was especially active along the middle coast. In August Kittredge, 
commanding a small flotilla, attempted to capture Corpus Christi but was repulsed by Confederates commanded by 
Maj. Alfred M. Hobby. Another, more successful, Union force commanded by Lt. Frederick Crocker destroyed a small 
fort at Sabine Pass and burned the railroad bridge at Taylor’s Bayou.
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The main Union attack against the Texas coast in 1862 was aimed at the state’s largest seaport, Galveston. On 
October 4, 1862, a small Union fleet commanded by W. B. Renshaw sailed into Galveston harbor. Confederate artil-
lery at Fort Point opened fire but was quickly silenced by superior Union 
gunpower. Renshaw demanded and received the surrender of the city. 
The loss of Galveston was followed by a change in Confederate com-
mand in Texas. General Hébert, who had never been popular with Texans, 
was replaced by Gen. John Bankhead , a Virginian with a reputation as 
an aggressive soldier. Magruder quickly made plans for the recapture of 
Galveston. He called for land forces to move across the railroad bridge 
from the mainland at night to surprise Union garrison troops, while two 
river steamers converted to gunboats, the Bayou City and the Neptune, 
sailed into the harbor to attack federal warships. The Confederate assault 
began shortly after midnight on New Year’s Day, 1863. At 1:00 A.M., while 
federal troops slept, Magruder led his forces across the railroad bridge 
connecting the island and the mainland. Between 4:00 and 5:00 A.M., 
Confederate artillery opened fire on federal ships and positions along the 
waterfront. The two Confederate gunboats attacked the Union fleet soon 
thereafter. The Neptune was hit by a shell from the U.S.S. Harriet Lane, 
veered into shallow water, and sank. The Bayou City meanwhile moved 
alongside the Harriet Lane. The “Horse Marines” stormed aboard, captured the vessel, and hauled down her colors. 
Other Union ships in the harbor had troubles of their own. The Union flagship, the Westfield, ran aground on Pelican 
Spit, and efforts by a sister ship, the Clifton, to move her were unsuccessful. Three other small Union vessels, Sa-
chem, Owasco, and Corypheus, fired on Confederate troops near the waterfront without much success. In the midst 
of the excitement, the Westfield was rocked by an internal explosion caused by premature detonation as her com-
mander, Renshaw, prepared to destroy the ship rather than risk capture. The explosion killed Renshaw and fourteen 
crewmen. Union naval forces now pulled out of the harbor, and the Union infantry soon surrendered to Magruder. 
Galveston was once again in Confederate possession.

Union naval forces continued to maintain a blockade of the Texas coastline throughout the war, but its effectiveness 
is difficult to measure. Ships loaded with cotton sailed out of Galveston and other Texas ports several times a week, 
while other vessels sailing from Havana and Caribbean ports returned with trade goods, munitions, and Enfield 
rifles. Unfortunately for the Confederacy, the Texas blockade runners, like those elsewhere in the South, were never 
adequately directed and organized for the highest degree of efficiency. Furthermore, the number of Union warships 
in the blockade increased with each passing month of the war. In an effort to tighten control of the Texas coast-
line, Maj. Gen. Nathaniel P. Banks, the Union commander of the Department of the Gulf, with headquarters in New 
Orleans, planned a major operation in the fall of 1863. He intended to land a large military force near Sabine Pass, 
march overland to Houston, and capture Galveston. To this effort he assigned 4,000 troops of the Nineteenth Army 
Corps, commanded by Maj. Gen. William B. Franklin. Transport vessels carrying the troops were to be protected by 
four light-draft gunboats, the Clifton, Sachem, Arizona, and Granite City.

The Union fleet appeared off the upper Texas coast in early September. Franklin planned to move his gunboats up 
the narrow channel at Sabine Pass, knock out the guns of the small Confederate fort guarding the waterway, and 
bring his transport vessels into Sabine Lake, where landings could be made. The only obstacle was the rough earth-
work fortification known locally as Fort Griffin and defended by a battery of Confederate artillery of forty-seven men 
commanded by Lt. Richard W. Dowling, an Irish barkeeper from Houston. On September 8, 1863, the four Union 
gunboats entered the channel and opened fire on Fort Griffin. The six cannon from the Confederate installation re-
sponded with high accuracy, firing 107 rounds in thirty-five minutes. The Sachem was hit on the third or fourth round 
and 
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driven up against the Louisiana side of the channel, a helpless wreck. The Confederates then turned their fire on 
the Clifton. A cannonball cut her tiller rope, throwing her out of control, and she soon ran aground. Many of the 
crew jumped overboard and made it to shore, where they were captured by the Confederates. The two other Union 
gunboats, the Arizona and the Granite City, turned and withdrew from the pass. General Franklin, overestimating the 
size and nature of the Confederate defense, ordered a withdrawal back to New Orleans. Dowling and his men were 
awarded medals by the Confederate government for their victory.

Union troops were temporarily more successful in southern Texas. In November 1863, 7,000 soldiers commanded 
by General Banks landed at the mouth of the Rio Grande and captured Brownsville, cutting the important trade 
between Texas and Mexico. Banks then sent one wing of his army upriver to capture Rio Grande City and another 
column along the coast to capture Corpus Christi, Aransas Pass, and the Matagorda peninsula. General Magruder 
called upon state and Confederate authorities for additional forces to halt the advance. Fortunately for the Confed-
eracy, many of Banks’s troops were transferred to Louisiana, where a major Union offensive was planned for the 
spring of 1864. This allowed Confederate and state troops commanded by John S. Ford to retake most of the area 
occupied by Union forces. In the summer of 1864 Ford recaptured Brownsville and reopened the vital trade link with 
Mexico. By the end of the war the only Union holding on the lower Texas coast was Brazos Island.

Union campaigns in Arkansas and Louisiana in 1864 involved thousands 
of Texans. In March, General Banks moved an army of 27,000 men and a 
naval flotilla up the Red River toward Shreveport. He hoped to link up with 
federal troops under Gen. Frederick Steele, who was moving southward 
from Little Rock, and then extend federal control over Northeast Texas. In 
an effort to prevent this, Texas troops in Indian Territory commanded by 
Brig. Gen. Samuel Maxey-Gano’s Brigade, Walker’s Choctaw brigade, and 
Krumbhaar’s battery, which was attached to Gano’s brigade-were moved 
to Arkansas, where they joined Sterling Price in halting the Union advance 
at Camden.

Banks, meanwhile, continued his advance in northwest Louisiana. On 
April 8, 1864, part of his army was defeated at Sabine Crossroads, near 
Mansfield, by Confederates under the command of Richard Taylor. Texans 
played a major role in the battle, which halted Banks’s advance. Confeder-
ates resumed the attack the next day at Pleasant Hill, fourteen miles to the 
south, but superior Union numbers prevented a Southern victory. Once again Texas units-including Walker’s Texas 
Division; Thomas Green’s cavalry, which consisted of five brigades in three divisions led by Hamilton P. Bee, James 
Patrick Major, and William Steele; and Polignac’s Brigade-figured prominently in the fighting. Green, one of the most 
popular of all the Texans, was killed three days later while leading an attack on the retreating federals at Blair’s 
Landing. Banks continued to retreat and in mid-May crossed the Atchafalaya River, thus ending attempts to invade 
Northeast Texas.

The large battles of the Civil War were fought beyond the Mississippi River, far from Texas. The state contributed 
thousands of men who participated in the great battles of the war. Texan Albert Sidney Johnston was killed in the 
battle of Shiloh in April 1862 while commanding a major Confederate army. Another Texas officer, Gen. John Bell 
Hood, lost the use of an arm at Gettysburg and a leg at Chickamauga. The Texas Brigade, originally commanded by 
Hood, had one of the finest reputations of any military unit. The brigade, including the First, Fourth, and Fifth Texas 
Infantry regiments, fought with honor at Gaines’ Mill, Second Manassas, Sharpsburg, Gettysburg, and Chickam-
auga. A Texas regiment, the Eighth Texas Cavalry, better known as Terry’s Texas Rangers, distinguished itself on 
battlefields in 
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Kentucky, Tennessee, Mississippi, Georgia, and South and North Carolina. Another brigade, commanded late in the 
war by Lawrence Sullivan Ross, won praise for combat in Mississippi, Tennessee, and Georgia. Granbury’s Texas 
Brigade, commanded by Waco lawyer Col. Hiram B. Granbury, also saw extensive action in Georgia and Tennes-
see. Granbury himself was killed in the futile Confederate assault at Franklin, Tennessee, in November 1864. Ector’s 
Brigade, consisting of the Tenth, Eleventh, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Texas Dismounted Cavalry and commanded 
by Brig. Gen. Mathew Duncan Ector, saw action in Tennessee, Mississippi, and Georgia and participated in Hood’s 
invasion of Tennessee.

The task of recruiting and equipping the thousands of Texans in military service required diligent efforts by state 
authorities. Francis R. Lubbock, who served as governor during the first half of the war, was a most capable and en-
ergetic chief executive. At his request the legislature provided for reorganization of the state militia system, passed a 
revenue act raising taxes, and established the Military Board of Texas, which had power to purchase military sup-
plies and establish ordnance foundries and arms factories. Lubbock met frequently with Confederate political and 
military leaders in efforts to provide better cooperation in the war. Although Texas and the Southwest were cut off 
from the rest of the South with the fall of Vicksburg in the summer of 1863, Lubbock continued to emphasize the 
need for unity in support of the Confederacy.

The governor entered the military in December 1863 and did not seek reelection. In the contest to choose his suc-
cessor, Pendleton Murrah, a Harrison County lawyer and former state legislator, defeated Thomas Jefferson Cham-
bers, four-time gubernatorial candidate and pioneer Gulf Coast rancher. The election centered upon support for the 
war effort. Although Murrah was less well known than Chambers, the Marshall lawyer benefited from Chambers’s 
reputation as a political maverick and a critic of Jefferson Davis’s administration. Most Texans regarded Murrah as 
the safer candidate. In office Murrah soon found himself involved in controversy with Gen. Edmund Kirby Smith, 
commander of the Trans-Mississippi Department. The disagreements related to a variety of relationships between 
the state and the central Confederate authority, including conscription laws, impressment of slave labor, transfer of 
Texas troops outside the war area, and supply matters. Particularly bitter was the controversy over government pur-
chase of cotton, a disagreement that divided Smith, who had set up the national Cotton Bureau for purchasing and 
selling cotton, and Murrah, who developed a state plan for the same purpose. The matter was resolved in a meeting 
between Smith and Murrah at Hempstead in June 1864. Shortly thereafter, the governor requested that the people 
of Texas deliver their cotton to the army’s agents for compensation and declared that the state would no longer com-
pete with the military for the cotton.

The majority of Texans approved the efforts of governors Clark, Lubbock, 
and Murrah to support the Confederacy. Even so, Unionism remained 
strong in some sections of the state. This was especially true in some of 
the German counties in the Hill Country and in a group of counties north 
of Dallas. Some of the early Texas Unionists such as James W. Throck-
morton, who cast one of the eight votes against secession in the Seces-
sion Convention, and Ben H. Epperson, a leader of East Texans opposed 
to secession, accepted the Confederacy after Fort Sumter and vigorously 
supported the Southern cause. Others, such as David G. Burnet, Elisha 
M. Pease, and Sam Houston, withdrew from public life and attempted 
to avoid controversy. Another group left the state or attempted to do so. 
Some of these, such as S. M. Swenson, the father of Swedish migration 
to Texas, and William Marsh Rice, a native of Massachusetts who made a 
fortune in the mercantile business in Texas, quietly left. Others joined the 
Union army in their efforts to defeat the Confederacy. Though most of the 
Mexican Americans from 
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Texas who fought in the war joined the Confederate Army, some joined the Union Army, partly in memory of the 
events of the Texas Revolution and its aftermath. The Second Texas Cavalry (U.S.), for example, was made up of 
mostly Texas Mexicans and Mexican nationals; the unit suffered a high desertion rate. Some 2,132 whites and forty-
seven blacks from Texas served in the Union Army. The best known of the Texans who supported the Union were 
Edmund J. Davis, a district judge who organized and commanded the First Texas Cavalry Regiment (Union), and 
Andrew J. Hamilton, Texas legislator and congressman, whom Lincoln appointed military governor of Texas after the 
war.

Texas Confederates dealt harshly with those attempting to assist the enemy. In August 1862 Fritz Tegener led sixty-
five Unionists, mostly Germans from the Hill Country, in an unsuccessful attempt to cross the Rio Grande and flee 
from Texas. They were overtaken near the Nueces River by state troops commanded by Lt. C. D. McRae. Thirty-
five of the Unionists were killed, and several others were wounded in the battle of the Nueces. Another fifty Union 
sympathizers were hanged in Gillespie County several weeks later. The greatest roundup of suspected Unionists 
occurred in Cooke and Grayson counties, north of Dallas. A citizens’ court at Gainesville tried 150 individuals for 
Unionist activities. Some confessed, some were convicted, and thirty-nine were executed in what contemporaries 
called the Great Hanging at Gainesville.

The life of ordinary Texans was much affected by the war. Although the state suffered less economically than other 
Confederate states, many adjustments were necessary. The blockade resulted in shortages of many commodities, 
especially coffee, medicine, clothing, shoes, and farm implements. Homespun clothing was worn as in early days; 
Governor Lubbock was inaugurated in a homespun suit. The British visitor Colonel Fremantle reported that “the loss 
of coffee afflicts the Confederates even more than the loss of spirits; and they exercise their ingenuity in devising 
substitutes, which are not generally very successful.” These substitutes included barley, corn, okra, peanuts, and 
sweet potatoes. Salt was so scarce that some Texans dug up the floors of their smokehouses and leached the dirt 
to recover the salt drippings. Thorns were used for pins, willow-bark extract and red pepper were mixed to substitute 
for quinine, and pieces of wallpaper served as writing paper. Several Texas newspapers suspended or discontinued 
operations for periods of time due to the lack of paper.

On the other hand, trade with Mexico made more materials available to Texas than to other Confederate states. In 
return for cotton, Texans received military supplies, medicines, dry goods, food, iron goods, liquor, coffee, and tobac-
co. Matamoros, on the Rio Grande across from Brownsville, and Bagdad, Tamaulipas, a seaport village at the mouth 
of the Rio Grande, were the centers of this activity, in which hundreds of vessels from Europe and the United States 
engaged in a flourishing business. The trade was interrupted from time to time by Union military activities along the 
lower Texas coast, but even so it provided many items needed by Texans during the war.
The war brought other changes to Texas. Some adjustments were made in agriculture as farmers planted more 
corn to meet food needs and requests of the government to reduce cotton production. The absence of men away at 
the war front placed greater responsibilities and burdens upon women and children, who assumed increased du-
ties. The shortage of free labor was partially offset by the increase in the number of slaves sent from other Southern 
states to Texas in an attempt to avoid the invading enemy armies. On occasion, military units were assigned har-
vesting duties.

Transportation was seriously affected by the war. The outbreak of fighting halted all railroad building for seven years, 
and difficulties in maintaining rolling stock caused existing service to be interrupted. 
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General Magruder ordered segments of the Eastern Texas road and the Texas and New Orleans torn up for coastal 
fortifications. Several miles of track between Swanson’s Landing and Jonesville in East Texas was taken up and 
relaid eastward from Marshall to Waskom for military purposes. Stagecoach lines continued to operate, but coaches 
were overcrowded and behind schedule. Roads and bridges suffered from lack of repair as labor and materials were 
diverted elsewhere.

The requirements of the military and the impact of the blockade caused rapid expansion of manufacturing in the 
state. The Texas State Military Board had the promotion of manufacturing as one of its responsibilities. Under its 
direction a percussion-cap factory and a cannon foundry were established in Austin. The board established a textile 
mill in the Texas State Penitentiary at Huntsville. During the war three million yards of cotton and wool cloth was 
produced at the Huntsville facility. The Confederate quartermaster department operated, or contracted for, facili-
ties at Houston, Dallas, Austin, Tyler, Rusk, Paris, Jefferson, Marshall, Waco, and Hempstead for the manufacture 
of clothing, shoes, iron products, wagons, tents, harness, and saddles. A major ordnance works was established at 
Tyler, and smaller plants were located in or near Rusk, Jefferson, Houston, and Galveston. A beef-packing plant at 
Jefferson provided meat for the Confederate Army.

Although political and military leaders attempted 
to keep up the morale of Texans, military defeats 
in Georgia, Tennessee, and Virginia in late 1864 
caused increased anxiety in the state. Newspaper 
editorials urged civilians to remain calm, and Gov-
ernor Murrah and General Smith asked Texans to 
continue the struggle. News of Robert E. Lee’s sur-
render in April 1865, followed by that of Joseph E. 
Johnston in North Carolina, made further resistance 
appear futile. Rip Ford defeated Union troops in the 
battle of Palmito Ranch, near Brownsville, on May 
13, 1865, the last battle of the war. From captured 
prisoners Ford learned that Confederate forces 
were surrendering all over the South. Kirby Smith 
attempted to keep his command intact, but found 
his soldiers heading for their homes. Some Texans, 
including Murrah and former governor Clark, joined 
other Confederates fleeing to Mexico. On June 2, 
1865, generals Smith and Magruder signed the 
formal terms of surrender for their commands, and 
on June 19 (Juneteenth) Gen. Gordon Granger ar-
rived in Galveston with Union forces of occupation. 
Reconstruction was in the offing. The Civil War had 
ended.
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II. Star of the West
Written by Jack D. L. Holmes

The Star of the  was a two-deck, side-wheel, schooner-rigged merchant ship fired upon by Confederate batteries as 
she attempted to relieve Fort Sumter on January 9, 1861. Hired out of New York as a troop transport for $1,000 a 
day, under its master, Elisha Howes, the Star sailed for Texas to pick up seven companies of United States troops 
assembled at Indianola.On April 18, while anchored off Pass Caballo bar leading into Matagorda Bay, the ship was 
captured by Col. Earl Van Dorn and members of two Galveston militia units, the Wigfall Guards and the Island City 
Rifles. Two days later the ship was taken to New Orleans, where Louisiana’s Governor Moore changed its name to 
the C.S.S. St. Philip. The old name persisted, however, and the Star served as a naval station and hospital ship until 
Adm. David G. Farragut captured New Orleans. Then the Star carried millions in gold, silver, and paper currency 
to Vicksburg and continued to Yazoo City. When federal Lieutenant Commander Watson Smith tried to lead two 
ironclads and five smaller vessels through Yazoo Pass into the Tallahatchie River to attack Vicksburg from the rear, 
Confederate defenders hurriedly constructed Fort Pemberton, and Major Gen. William W. Loring had the Star sunk 
athwart the Tallahatchie to block the passage of the Union flotilla. In a skirmish on April 12, 1863, the Union forces 
suffered heavy casualties and were forced to withdraw. The owners of the Star collected $175,000 in damages from 
the United States government for their loss.
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III. Harriet Lane
Written by Norman C. Delaney

The Harriet Lane, named after the niece and official host-
ess of President James Buchanan, was built in 1857 for 
service as a revenue cutter for the United States Treasury 
Department. The 619-ton copper-plated steamer could make 
speeds of up to eleven knots. Her battery consisted of three 
thirty-two-pounders and four twenty-four-pound howitzers. 
Except for her participation in the Paraguay expedition of 
1858, the Harriet Lane served the revenue service until Sep-
tember 17, 1861. While still in revenue control, she became 
part of the naval squadron that was sent to reinforce the 
United States garrison at Fort Sumter in Charleston harbor. 
After her transfer to the navy, she participated in several ma-
jor naval operations. The first of these was the Burnside expedition, which captured forts Hatteras and Clark on the 
North Carolina coast. Later the Harriet Lane served as the flagship of Commander David D. Porter, whose mortar 
flotilla contributed to the surrender of forts Jackson and St. Philip, at the entrance to the Mississippi. Then, after par-
ticipating in Porter’s unsuccessful operations against Vicksburg during July 1862, she took her station with the West 
Gulf Blockade Squadron outside Mobile Bay.

On October 4, 1862, the Harriet Lane and four other steamers composing a squadron commanded by William B. 
Renshaw brought Galveston under control with their firepower. Only three months later-on January 1, 1863-Confed-
erate major general John B. Magruder launched a surprise land and sea attack on Galveston. Three “cotton-clad” 
steamers manned by Confederate sharpshooters attacked the Harriet Lane, and she was rammed by two of them. 
Armed Confederates boarded her, and, in fierce hand-to-hand fighting, killed five of her crew, including her captain 
and executive officer. All of the surviving officers and crew were taken prisoner. The capture of the Harriet Lane 
provided the Confederates with invaluable information: aboard the steamer was found a complete copy of the United 
States signal-service code.

Although Galveston remained Confederate until the end of the war, only a week elapsed before Galveston harbor 
was once again under a Union blockade. The Harriet Lane was under the jurisdiction of the Confederate Army’s Ma-
rine Department of Texas until March 31, 1863, when control of her was transferred to the War Department.
Early in 1864 the Harriet Lane was converted to a blockade runner, the Lavinia. She escaped to sea with a cargo of 
cotton on April 30, 1864; after her arrival in Havana, Spanish authorities detained her until the war’s end. She was 
returned by Spain to the United States in 1867, then sold and converted to a freighter, the Elliot Richie. She met her 
end in a gale off Pernambuco, Brazil, on May 13, 1884.
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IV. Battle of Sabine Pass
Written by Alwynn Barr

The battle of Sabine Pass, on September 8, 1863, turned back one of several Union attempts to invade and occupy 
part of Texas during the Civil War. The United States Navy blockaded the Texas coast beginning in the summer of 
1861, while Confederates fortified the major ports. Union interest in Texas and other parts of the Confederacy west 
of the Mississippi River resulted primarily from the need for cotton by northern textile mills and concern about French 
intervention in the Mexican civil war. In September 1863 Gen. Nathaniel P. Banks sent by transport from New Or-
leans 4,000 soldiers under the command of Gen. William B. Franklin to gain a foothold at Sabine Pass, where the 
Sabine River flows into the Gulf of Mexico. A railroad ran from that area to Houston and opened the way into the 
interior of the state. The Western Gulf Blockading Squadron of the United States Navy sent four gunboats mount-
ing eighteen guns to protect the landing. At Sabine Pass the Confederates recently had constructed Fort Griffin, 
an earthwork that mounted six cannon, two twenty-four pounders and four thirty-two pounders. The Davis Guards, 
Company F of the First Texas Heavy Artillery Regiment, led by Capt. Frederick Odlum, had placed stakes along 
both channels through the pass to mark distances as they sharpened their accuracy in early September. The Union 
forces lost any chance of surprising the garrison when a blockader missed its arranged meeting with the ships from 
New Orleans on the evening of September 6. The navy commander, Lt. Frederick Crocker, then formed a plan for 
the gunboats to enter the pass and silence the fort so the troops could land. The Clifton shelled the fort from long 
range between 6:30 and 7:30 A.M. on the 8th, while the Confederates remained under cover because the ship 
remained out of reach for their cannon. Behind the fort Odlum and other Confederate officers gathered reinforce-
ments, although their limited numbers would make resistance difficult if the federal troops landed.

Finally at 3:40 P.M. the Union gunboats began their ad-
vance through the pass, firing on the fort as they steamed 
forward. Under the direction of Lt. Richard W. Dowling the 
Confederate cannoneers emerged to man their guns as 
the ships came within 1,200 yards. One cannon in the fort 
ran off its platform after an early shot. But the artillerymen 
fired the remaining five cannon with great accuracy. A shot 
from the third or fourth round hit the boiler of the Sachem, 
which exploded, killing and wounding many of the crew and 
leaving the gunboat without power in the channel near the 
Louisiana shore. The following ship, the Arizona, backed up 
because it could not pass the Sachem and withdrew from 
the action. The Clifton, which also carried several sharp-
shooters, pressed on up the channel near the Texas shore 
until a shot from the fort cut away its tiller rope as the range 
closed to a quarter of a mile. That left the gunboat without the ability to steer and caused it to run aground, where 
its crew continued to exchange fire with the Confederate gunners. Another well-aimed projectile into the boiler of 
the Clifton sent steam and smoke through the vessel and forced the sailors to abandon ship. The Granite City also 
turned back rather than face the accurate artillery of the fort, thus ending the federal assault. The Davis Guards had 
fired their cannon 107 times in thirty-five minutes of action, a rate of less than two minutes per shot, which ranked 
as far more rapid than the standard for heavy artillery. The Confederates captured 300 Union prisoners and two 
gunboats. Franklin and the army force turned back to New Orleans, although Union troops occupied the Texas coast 
from Brownsville to Matagorda Bay later that fall. The Davis Guards, who suffered no casualties during the battle, 
received the thanks of the Confederate Congress for their victory. Careful fortification, range marking, and artillery 
practice had produced a successful defense of Sabine Pass.
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V. Battle of Galveston
Written by Alwynn Barr

As part of the Union blockade of the Texas coast, Commander William B. Renshaw led his squadron of eight ships 
into Galveston harbor to demand surrender of the most important Texas port on October 4, 1862. Brig. Gen. Paul 
O. Hébert, commanding the Confederate District of Texas, had removed most of the heavy artillery from Galveston 
Island, which he believed to be indefensible. The Fort Point garrison fired on the federal ships, which responded by 
dismounting the Confederate cannon with return shots. Col. Joseph J. Cook, in command on the island, arranged 
a four-day truce while he evacuated his men to the mainland. The Union ships held the harbor, but 264 men of the 
Forty-second Massachusetts Infantry, led by Col. I. S. Burrell, did not arrive until December 25 to occupy Kuhn’s 
Wharf and patrol the town.

When Maj. Gen. John Bankhead Magruder replaced Hébert in the fall of 1862, the new district commander began to 
organize for the recapture of Galveston. For a naval attack he placed artillery and dismounted cavalry from Sibley’s 
brigade, led by Col. Thomas Green, aboard two river steamers, the Bayou City and the Neptune, commanded by 
Capt. Leon Smith. Magruder gathered infantry and cavalry, led by Brig. Gen. William R. Scurry, and supported by 
twenty light and heavy cannons, to cross the railroad bridge onto the island to capture the federal forces ashore. To 
meet the attack Renshaw had six ships that mounted twenty-nine pieces of heavy artillery.

The Confederates entered Galveston on New Year’s night, January 1, 1863, and opened fire before dawn. Cook 
failed to seize the wharf because of the short ladders provided for his men. Naval guns helped drive back the as-
sault. Then the Confederate “cottonclads” struck from the rear of the Union squadron. The Harriet Lane sank the 
Neptune when it tried to ram the Union ship, but men from the Bayou City boarded and seized the federal vessel de-
spite the explosion of their own heavy cannon. Renshaw’s flagship, the Westfield, ran aground, and the commander 
died trying to blow up his ship rather than surrender it. The other Union ships sailed out to sea, ignoring Confederate 
surrender demands, which could be enforced only upon the abandoned federal infantry in town.

Magruder had retaken Galveston with a loss of twenty-six killed and 117 wounded. Union losses included the cap-
tured infantry and the Harriet Lane, about 150 casualties on the naval ships, as well as the destruction of the West-
field. The port remained under Confederate control for the rest of the war.
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VI. Red River Campaign
Written by Art Leatherwood

The Red River campaign of March to May 1864 occurred during the 
Civil War after the fall of Vicksburg and Port Hudson. At that time Presi-
dent Abraham Lincoln authorized a campaign against Shreveport, 
Louisiana, then the temporary capital of Confederate Louisiana. It was a 
major supply depot and a gateway to Texas. Though the operation was 
opposed by generals Ulysses S. Grant, William T. Sherman, and Na-
thaniel P. Banks, it was favored by General in Chief Henry W. Halleck. 
Banks was commander of the Department of the Gulf and was engaged 
in operations against the Confederacy along the Texas Gulf Coast. 
Under some pressure from Halleck, Banks concentrated his forces on a 
campaign to secure the area along the Red River to Shreveport. Objec-
tives for this campaign included preventing a Confederate alliance with 
the French in Mexico; denying southern supplies to Confederate forces; 
and securing vast quantities of Louisiana and Texas cotton for north-
ern mills. By 1863 Confederate general Richard Taylor, with his head-
quarters in Alexandria, was aware that Union operations up the Red 
River were under consideration as a means to penetrate the Department of Texas. The Red River was navigable by 
steamship for as many as six months of the year and could provide for cooperative army and naval operations. It 
could support shifting bases as an invading force pressed into the interior. He made his concerns known to Gen. Ed-
mund Kirby Smith, commander of the Trans-Mississippi Department, and through him, to President Jefferson Davis. 
Taylor began to establish supply bases up the Red River; this included the rehabilitation by Walker’s Texas Division 
of Fort DeRussy near Simmesport, Louisiana. He began to warn citizens of the impending operations, and to limit 
the sale of cotton to speculators who were selling to northern buyers. After failing to stem significantly the sale of 
cotton, Taylor by early 1864 had ordered that all bailed and seeded cotton be burned.

In the spring of 1864 General Banks began to gather his forces-an army of about 17,000-for a march to Alexandria, 
Louisiana. In Alexandria, Banks was to join a 10,000-member troop detachment from General Sherman’s Mississippi 
command and a 15,000-member troop detachment under Gen. Frederick Steele. The detachment from Sherman’s 
Army of the Tennessee was under the command of Gen. Andrew J. Smith. Smith’s forces, escorted up the Red 
River by a fleet of ironclads and gunboats under Adm. David D. Porter, disembarked at Simmesport and captured 
the partially completed Fort DeRussy on March 14. Smith and Porter occupied Alexandria on March 19. Banks ar-
rived on March 25, a week late. Steele was delayed and was too late to take part in the campaign. The movement of 
the Union forces up the Red River was slowed by unseasonably low water levels, which hampered Porter in getting 
his ships over the rapids. Gen. Richard Taylor, in command of the Confederate forces opposing Banks, was retreat-
ing upriver as he awaited Confederate troops that were on the way to assist him. Taylor’s forces consisted of Maj. 
Gen. John George Walker’s Texas Division, Col. William Vincent’s Second Louisiana Cavalry, and William Mouton’s 
Louisianans, with a small brigade of Texans under the command of Brig. Gen. Camille A. J. M. Prince de Polignac; 
reinforcements of cavalry and infantry were coming from Texas. On March 21 the Federals captured 250 of Vincent’s 
men near Henderson Hill after a small skirmish. Brig. Gen. Thomas Green’s Texas cavalry joined Taylor at Pleasant 
Hill. Green was placed in command of Taylor’s rear guard and Taylor fell back to Mansfield.

The Union forces had reached the Natchitoches area by April 2, 1864, and remained there until April 6, when they 
took a road to Mansfield toward Shreveport. Banks was unaware that another road followed the river and would 
have allowed support from the Union gunboats. The column was led by the cavalry, 
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under Brig. Gen. Albert L. Lee; following were a large 
supply train of some 350 wagons, the Thirteenth 
Corps, the Nineteenth Corps, and a force under Gen. 
A. J. Smith. On April 7, three miles north of Pleasant 
Hill, Lee’s cavalry skirmished with Green’s rear guard. 
On April 8 the Union column was strung out single file 
along some twenty miles of road when it encountered 
the Confederate force about three miles south of 
Mansfield. Upon contact with the Confederate forces, 
General Banks came up the column and assumed 
command. He ordered reinforcements under Maj. 
Gen. William B. Franklin from the rear, but they were 
delayed by road congestion. Before the reinforce-
ments could reach the front, General Taylor, with a 
total force of 8,800, attacked. The Federals, even with 
Franklin’s arrival, were routed. The battle of Mans-
field may have been the most humiliating defeat of the entire war. The Union forces of 12,000 had 700 men killed 
or wounded and 1,500 taken prisoner; 20 Union artillery pieces and 200 wagons were captured, and almost 1,000 
horses and mules were lost. The Confederate army of 8,800 had 1,000 killed or wounded. Banks fell back to Pleas-
ant Hill. William H. Emory and the Nineteenth Corps moved up and met with Taylor’s pursuing forces at Pleasant 
Grove. On the late afternoon of April 9, the Confederate forces attacked. They were repulsed and retired from the 
battlefield. During the night of the 9th General Banks gave the order to retire to Grand Ecore, Louisiana. The expedi-
tion seems to have been abandoned at this point, as the retreat continued down the Red River. The Union forces, 
especially those under the command of Gen. A. J. Smith, looted, burned, and destroyed everything in their path as 
they moved south. Admiral Porter, under harassment, also retreated down the river, and on reaching Alexandria he 
was once more slowed by low water over the rapids. Army Engineer lieutenant colonel Joseph Bailey constructed 
a series of wing dams that permitted Porter and his boats to pass on May 13. That same day A. J. Smith’s troops 
burned the city of Alexandria to the ground. Taylor continued to harass the retreating Union army, with the final skir-
mishes of the Red River campaign occurring at Mansura, Louisiana, on May 16 and at Yellow Bayou on May 18.
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VII. Battle of Palmito Ranch
Written by Jeffrey William Hunt

On May 13, 1865, more than a month after the surrender of Gen. Robert E. Lee, the last land action of the Civil War 
took place at Palmito Ranch near Brownsville. Early in the war the Union army had briefly occupied Brownsville but 
had been unable to hold the city. They established a base at Brazos Santiago on Brazos Island from which to block-
ade the Rio Grande and Brownsville. They were, however, unable to blockade the Mexican (and technically neutral) 
port of Bagdad, just below the river. The Confederates landed supplies at Bagdad and then transported them twen-
ty-five miles inland to Matamoros to be shipped across the Rio Grande into Brownsville.

In February 1865 the Union commander at Brazos Island, 
Col. Theodore H. Barrett, reported to his superiors that his 
base was secure from attack and that with permission he 
could take Brownsville. The superiors refused to sanction 
the attack. Instead, Maj. Gen. Lewis Wallace sought and 
received Lt. Gen. Ulysses S. Grant’s permission to meet 
the Confederate commanders of the Brownsville area, Brig. 
Gen. James E. Slaughter, commander of the Western Sub-
District of Texas, and Col. John Salmon (Rip) Ford, com-
mander of the southern division of Slaughter’s command, 
at Port Isabel on March 11, 1865, in hopes of arranging a 
separate peace. Wallace promised no retaliation against 
former Confederates so long as they took an oath of al-
legiance to the United States. Anyone who preferred to leave the country would be given time to gather up property 
and family before doing so. An informal truce was arranged while Ford and Slaughter sent Wallace’s proposals up 
the chain of command, and Wallace informed Grant that the rebels in Texas would soon be surrendering. Slaugh-
ter’s superior in Houston, however, Maj. Gen. John G. Walker, denounced Wallace’s terms and wrote a stinging let-
ter to Slaughter for having listened to them in the first place. The commander of the Confederate Trans-Mississippi 
Department, Lt. Gen. Edmund Kirby Smith, was not ready to abandon the cause either. On May 9, 1865, he told the 
governors of the western Confederate states that despite Lee’s surrender, his own army remained, and he proposed 
to continue the fight.

The Confederates in Texas were aware of the fate of the Confederacy’s eastern armies. On May 1, 1865, a passen-
ger on a steamer heading up the Rio Grande towards Brownsville tossed a copy of the New Orleans Times to some 
Confederates at Palmito Ranch. The paper contained the news of Lee’s surrender, Lincoln’s death, and the sur-
render negotiations between Johnston and Sherman. Within the next ten days several hundred rebels left the army 
and went home. Those who remained were as resolute as their commanders to continue the fight in Texas. The 
federals, meanwhile, had received an erroneous report that the southerners were preparing to evacuate Brownsville 
and move east of Corpus Christi. In light of this intelligence Colonel Barrett ordered 250 men of the Sixty-second 
United States Colored Infantry and fifty men of the Second Texas United States Cavalry (dismounted) to cross to the 
mainland from Brazos Island at Boca Chica Pass to occupy Brownsville. Carrying five days’ rations and 100 rounds 
of ammunition per man, the Union troops crossed over to the coast at 9:30 P.M. on May 11, 1865. Under the com-
mand of Lt. Col. David Branson, this detachment marched all night and reached White’s Ranch at daybreak. There 
Branson’s men halted and tried to conceal themselves in a thicket along the Rio Grande. The camp was spotted by 
“civilians” (probably Confederate soldiers) on the Mexican side of the river. Realizing that any hope of surprising the 
Confederates was lost, Branson immediately resumed his march toward Brownsville.
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At Palmito Ranch the federals encountered Capt. W. N. Robinson’s 190-man company of Lt. Col. George H. Gid-
dings’s Texas Cavalry Battalion, which skirmished briefly with the Union force before retiring. The federals, too, fell 
back to a hill overlooking the ranch to rest and cook dinner. Camping for the night, the Union troops remained undis-
turbed until 3:00 A.M., when Robinson’s company reappeared. Colonel Ford, at Fort Brown, had ordered Robinson 
to maintain contact with Branson’s column and promised to reinforce him as soon as possible. Under pressure from 
Robinson, the federals fell back to White’s Ranch, from where Branson sent a courier to Brazos Santiago asking 
Colonel Barrett for reinforcements. Barrett himself arrived at 5:00 A.M. on May 13, 1865, with 200 men of the Thirty-
fourth Indiana Infantry, bringing the Union strength up to 500 officers and men. Under Barrett’s command the column 
moved on Palmito Ranch once more, and a “sharp engagement” took place in a thicket along the riverbank between 
Barrett’s 500 troops and Robinson’s 190 Confederates. The outnumbered but persistent southerners were soon 
pushed back across an open prairie and beyond sight, while the exhausted federals paused on a small hill about a 
mile west of Palmito Ranch. At three that afternoon, Colonel Ford arrived to reinforce Robinson with 300 men from 
his own Second Texas Cavalry, Col. Santos Benavides’s Texas Cavalry Regiment, and additional companies from 
Giddings’s battalion, as well as a six-gun battery of field artillery under the command of Capt. O. G. Jones.

With mounted cavalry and artillery, Ford had the perfect force to deal with Barrett’s infantry on the flat, open land 
around Palmito Ranch. Hidden by a group of small trees, Ford’s men formed their line of battle. At 4:00 P.M. Jones’s 
guns began to fire. After a brief bombardment, Robinson’s men attacked the Union left near the river, while two other 
companies of Giddings’s battalion struck its right. At the same time, the rest of Ford’s men charged the enemy cen-
ter. The southern assault came as a great surprise, and the Union line rapidly fell apart. Barrett later reported that 
“Having no artillery to oppose the enemy’s six twelve-pounder field pieces our position became untenable. We there-
fore fell back fighting.” Ford remembered it differently when he wrote in his memoirs that Barrett “seemed to have 
lost his presence of mind” and to have led his troops off the field in a “rather confused manner.” Forty-six men of 
the Thirty-fourth Indiana were put out as skirmishers and left to be captured as the federals fell back toward Brazos 
Island. Only by deploying 140 men of the Sixty-second Colored in a line running from the Rio Grande to three-quar-
ters of a mile inland did the Union troops slow the Confederate attack enough to allow the northerners to get away. 
Ford wrote that the battle from its beginning had been “a run,” and demonstrated “how fast demoralized men could 
get over ground.” The Confederates chased the federals for seven miles to Brazos Island. There the routed Union 
troops were met by reinforcements, and Ford’s men ceased their attack. “Boys, we have done finely,” said Ford. “We 
will let well enough alone, and retire.” The action had lasted a total of four hours. Confederate casualties were a few 
dozen wounded. The federals lost 111 men and four officers captured, and thirty men wounded or killed. Ironically, 
at the same time as the battle of Palmito Ranch, the Confederate governors of Arkansas, Louisiana, Missouri, and 
Texas were authorizing Kirby Smith to disband his armies and end the war. A few days later federal officers from 
Brazos Santiago visited Brownsville to arrange a truce with General Slaughter and Colonel Ford.
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VIII. Thomas Green
Written by Alwynn Barr

Thomas Green, military leader, was born in Buckingham County, Vir-
ginia, on June 8, 1814, to Nathan and Mary (Field) Green. The family 
moved to Tennessee in 1817. Green attended Jackson College in Ten-
nessee and Princeton College in Kentucky before he received a degree 
from the University of Tennessee in 1834. He then studied law with 
his father, a prominent judge on the Tennessee Supreme Court. When 
the Texas Revolution began, he left Tennessee to join the volunteers. 
He reached Nacogdoches by December 1835 and enrolled for military 
service on January 14, 1836. He became one of Isaac N. Moreland’s 
company, which operated the Twin Sisters cannons in the battle of San 
Jacinto on April 21, 1836. A few days after the battle Green was com-
missioned a lieutenant; in early May he was made a major and aide-de-
camp to Thomas J. Rusk. He resigned on May 30 to continue studying 
law in Tennessee.

When he returned and settled in Texas in 1837, he was granted land 
in reward for his army service and became a county surveyor at La 
Grange, Fayette County. After his nomination by fellow San Jacinto vet-
eran William W. Gant, he was elected engrossing clerk for the House of Representatives of the Republic of Texas, 
a post he held until 1839, when he represented Fayette County in the House of the Fourth Congress. After a term 
he chose not to run again and resumed the office of engrossing clerk. During the Sixth and Eighth congresses he 
served as secretary of the Senate. From 1841 to 1861 he was clerk of the state Supreme Court.

Between legislative and court sessions Green served in military campaigns against the Indians and Mexico. In 
the fall of 1840 he joined John H. Moore in a foray up the Colorado River against the Comanches. After Rafael 
Vásquez’s invasion of San Antonio in March 1842, Green recruited and served as captain of the Travis County 
Volunteers, a unit that did not see battle. That fall he served as inspector general for the Somervell expedition after 
Adrián Woll’s foray into San Antonio.

When the United States went to war with Mexico, Green recruited and commanded a company of Texas Rangers in 
La Grange as part of the First Texas Regiment of Mounted Riflemen, led by John C. Hays. The Texans helped Zach-
ary Taylor capture Monterrey, Nuevo León, in September 1846. After returning home, Green married Mary Wallace 
Chalmers, daughter of John G. Chalmers, on January 31, 1847. Five daughters and one son were born to them.

After secession in 1861, Green was elected colonel of the Fifth Texas Volunteer Cavalry, which, as part of a brigade 
led by Gen. H. H. Sibley, joined the invasion of New Mexico in 1862. There Green led the Confederate victory at 
the battle of Valverde in February. After a difficult retreat into Texas he led his men, aboard the river steamer Bayou 
City, to assist in the recapture of Galveston on January 1, 1863. In the spring of 1863 Green commanded the First 
Cavalry Brigade in fighting along Bayou Teche in Louisiana. On May 20 he became a brigadier general. In June 
he captured a Union garrison at Brashear City but failed to seize Fort Butler on the Mississippi. At Cox’s Plantation 
he defeated a Union advance in July. In September the First Cavalry captured another Union detachment at Stir-
ling’s Plantation. A similar success followed in November at Bayou Burbeaux. In four victories Green’s men inflicted 
about 3,000 casualties and suffered only 600. In April 1864 he led a division in successful attacks against Maj. Gen. 
Nathaniel P. Banks at the battle of Mansfield and against Maj. Gen. William H. Emory at the battle of Pleasant Hill. A 
few days later, on April 12, 1864, Green died while leading an attack on federal gunboats patrolling the Red River at 
Blair’s Landing. He was buried in the family plot at Oakwood Cemetery in Austin. Tom Green County was named for 
him in 1874.
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IX. John Bell Hood
Written by Thomas W. Cutrer

John Bell Hood, United States and Confederate States Army officer, 
was born at Owingsville, Bath County, Kentucky, on June 1, 1831, 
the son of John W. and Theodocia (French) Hood. He was appointed 
to the United States Military Academy at West Point on July 1, 1849, 
and graduated forty-fourth in the class of 1853; his classmates in-
cluded Philip H. Sheridan, James B. McPherson, and John M. Scho-
field. He was brevetted on July 1 as a second lieutenant in the Fourth 
Infantry. After service in Missouri and California, he was promoted on 
March 3, 1855, to second lieutenant and assigned to Company G of 
the elite Second United States Cavalry, with which he served on the 
Texas frontier. Hood, commanding a reconnaissance patrol from Fort 
Mason, sustained an arrow wound to the left hand in action against 
the Comanches near the headwaters of the Devils River on July 
20, 1857. This was one of the most severe fights engaged in by the 
Second Cavalry in Texas. Hood was promoted to first lieutenant on 
August 18, 1858, but resigned from the army on April 16, 1861. Dis-
satisfied with his native Kentucky’s neutrality, Hood declared himself 
a Texan.

Upon his resignation from the United States Army, he was commissioned a captain in the regular Confederate 
cavalry on March 16, 1861, and on September 30 was appointed colonel of the Fourth Texas Infantry, superseding 
Robert T. P. Allen. On March 3, 1862, Hood was promoted to brigadier general and given command of what became 
known as Hood’s Texas Brigade, perhaps the finest brigade of Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia. This unit, 
originally composed of the First, Fourth, and Fifth Texas Infantry and the Eighteenth Georgia regiments, plus the 
infantry companies of Wade Hampton’s legion, displayed remarkable courage at the battle of Gaines Mill, Virginia 
(June 27, 1862); Hood’s superiors noticed and, on October 10, 1862, promoted him to major general. His division, 
which he commanded at Second Manassas (Second Bull Run), Sharpsburg (Antietam), Fredericksburg, and Gettys-
burg, originally consisted of his own Texas brigade under the command of Jerome Bonaparte Robertson, plus those 
of Evander McIvor Law, Henry Lewis Benning, and Micah Jenkins. At Gettysburg Hood received a severe wound 
to his left arm, which was incapacitated for the rest of his life. In the autumn of 1863 he and his division accompa-
nied Gen. James Longstreet’s First Corps of the Army of Northern Virginia to Tennessee, where the corps played a 
crucial role in the battle of Chickamauga. Hood’s command spearheaded the Rebel attack that broke the Union line 
on September 20, but Hood was shot in the upper right thigh, a wound that necessitated the amputation of his leg. 
On February 1, 1864, after a period of convalescence, he was promoted to lieutenant general and transferred to the 
Army of Tennessee, where he was given command of a corps consisting of the divisions of Thomas C. Hindman, 
Carter L. Stevenson, and Alexander P. Stewart. Hood managed his corps aggressively during the Atlanta campaign, 
and on July 18, 1864, he was given command of the Army of Tennessee, superseding Joseph E. Johnston, and a 
temporary promotion to the rank of full general. This promotion, however, was never confirmed by the Confederate 
Congress. William T. Sherman forced the evacuation of Atlanta on September 1, 1864, and Hood, hoping to force 
him back out of Georgia, moved his army onto the Union line of communications in Tennessee. Sherman responded 
to this threat to his rear by detaching Gen. George H. Thomas’s command to deal with Hood while he led the rest 
of his army toward Savannah, Georgia, and the sea. Strapped to his saddle, Hood led his men toward Nashville, 
but met disastrous defeats at Franklin on November 30 and at Nashville on December 15 and 16. As the remains of 
the Army of Tennessee retreated toward Tupelo, Mississipi, it sang, to the tune of “The Yellow Rose of Texas,” “You 
can talk about your Beauregard and sing of General Lee, but the Gallant Hood of Texas played Hell in Tennessee.” 
Relieved of command at his own request on January 23, 1865, Hood was attempting to make his way to Edmund 
Kirby Smith’s army in Texas when the Confederacy collapsed. Accordingly, he surrendered to federal authorities at 
Natchez, Mississippi, on May 31, 1865.
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After the war Hood moved to New Orleans, where he was involved in merchandising, real estate, and insurance 
businesses. He died there of yellow fever on August 30, 1879. His wife, the former Anna Marie Hennen, and eldest 
daughter preceded him in death by only a few days, and the couple left ten orphans. General Hood was originally 
buried in Lafayette Cemetery, New Orleans, but was reinterred in the Hennen family tomb at the Metairie Cemetery. 
His memoir, Advance and Retreat (1880), is one of the classics of Confederate literature. Hood County is named in 
his honor, as is Fort Hood in Bell and Coryell counties.
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X. Benjamin McCulloch
Written by Thomas W. Cutrer

Ben McCulloch, Indian fighter, Texas Ranger, United States marshal, 
and brigadier general in the Army of the Confederate States of America, 
was born in Rutherford County, Tennessee, on November 11, 1811, 
the fourth son of Alexander and Frances F. (LeNoir) McCulloch. His 
mother was the daughter of a prominent Virginia planter, and his father, 
a graduate of Yale College, was a major on Brig. Gen. John Coffee’s 
staff during Andrew Jackson’s campaign against the Creeks in Alabama. 
Ben was also the elder brother of Henry Eustace McCulloch. The Mc-
Cullochs had been a prosperous and influential colonial North Carolina 
family but had lost much of their wealth as a result of the Revolutionary 
War and the improvidence of Alexander McCulloch, who so wasted his 
inheritance that he was unable to educate his younger sons. Two of 
Ben’s older brothers briefly attended school taught by a close neighbor 
and family friend in Tennessee, Sam Houston. Like many families on 
the western frontier, the McCullochs moved often-from North Carolina 
to eastern Tennessee to Alabama and back to western Tennessee 
between 1812 and 1830. They settled at last near Dyersburg, Tennessee, where David Crockett was among their 
closest neighbors and most influential friends. After five years of farming, hunting, and rafting, but virtually no formal 
schooling, Ben agreed to follow Crockett to Texas, planning to meet him in Nacogdoches on Christmas Day, 1835. 
Ben and Henry arrived too late, however, and Ben followed Crockett alone toward San Antonio. When sickness 
from measles prevented him from reaching the Alamo before its fall, McCulloch joined Houston’s army on its retreat 
into East Texas. At the battle of San Jacinto he commanded one of the famed Twin Sisters and won from Houston 
a battlefield commission as first lieutenant. He soon left the army, however, to earn his living as a surveyor in the 
Texas frontier communities of Gonzales and Seguin. He then joined the Texas Rangers and, as first lieutenant under 
John Coffee Hays, won a considerable reputation as an Indian fighter. In 1839 McCulloch was elected to the House 
of Representatives of the Republic of Texas in a campaign marred by a rifle duel with Reuben Ross. In the affray 
McCulloch received a wound that partially crippled his right arm for the rest of his life. On Christmas Day of that year 
Henry McCulloch killed Ross in a pistol duel in Gonzales.

Ben chose not to stand for reelection in 1842 but returned to surveying and the pursuit of a quasimilitary career. At 
the battle of Plum Creek on August 12, 1840, he had distinguished himself as a scout and as commander of the right 
wing of the Texas army. In February 1842, when the Mexican government launched a raid against Texas that seized 
the strategic town of San Antonio, McCulloch rendered invaluable service by scouting enemy positions and taking 
a prominent role in the fighting that harried Rafael Vásquez’s raiders back below the Rio Grande. On September 
11, 1842, a second Mexican expedition captured San Antonio. McCulloch again did valuable scouting service and 
joined in the pursuit of Adrián Woll’s invading troops to the Hondo River, where Hays’s rangers engaged them on 
September 21. After the repulse of the second Mexican invasion, McCulloch remained with the ranger company that 
formed the nucleus of an army with which the Texans planned to invade Mexico. The so-called Somervell expedition 
was poorly managed, however, and Ben and Henry left it on the Rio Grande only hours before the remainder of the 
Texans were captured at Mier, Tamaulipas, on December 25, 1842. McCulloch was elected to the First Legislature 
after the annexation of Texas.

At the outbreak of the Mexican War he raised a command of Texas Rangers that became Company A of Col. Jack 
Hays’s First Regiment, Texas Mounted Volunteers. He was ordered to report to the United States Army on the Rio 
Grande and was soon named Zachary Taylor’s chief of scouts. As such he won his
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commander’s praise and the admiration of the nation with his exciting reconnaissance expeditions into northern 
Mexico. The presence in his company of George Wilkins Kendall, editor of the New Orleans Picayune, and Samuel 
Reid, who later wrote a popular history of the campaign, The Scouting Expeditions of McCulloch’s Texas Rangers, 
propelled McCulloch’s name into national prominence. Leading his company as mounted infantry at the battle of 
Monterrey, McCulloch further distinguished himself, and before the battle of Buena Vista his astute and daring re-
connaissance work saved Taylor’s army from disaster and won him a promotion to the rank of major of United States 
volunteers.

McCulloch returned to Texas at the end of the war, served for a time as a scout under Bvt. Maj. Gen. David E. , and 
traveled to Tennessee on family business before setting out from Austin on September 9, 1849, for the gold fields of 
California. Although he failed to strike it rich, he was elected sheriff of Sacramento. His friends in the Senate, Sam 
Houston and Thomas Jefferson Rusk, mounted a campaign to put him in command of a regiment of United States 
cavalry for duty on the Texas frontier, but largely due to McCulloch’s lack of formal education the attempt was frus-
trated. In 1852 President Franklin Pierce promised him the command of the elite Second United States Cavalry, but 
Secretary of War Jefferson Davis bestowed the command instead on his personal favorite, Albert Sidney Johnston. 
McCulloch was, however, appointed United States marshal for the Eastern District of Texas and served under Judge 
John Charles Watrous during the administrations of Franklin Pierce and James Buchanan. In 1858 he was ap-
pointed one of two peace commissioners to treat with Brigham Young and the elders of the Mormon Church; he is 
credited with helping to prevent armed hostilities between the United States government and the Latter-Day Saints 
in Utah.

When secession came to Texas, McCulloch was commissioned a colonel 
and authorized to demand the surrender of all federal posts in the Military 
District of Texas. After a bloodless confrontation at the Alamo on February 
16, 1861, General Twiggs turned over to McCulloch the federal arsenal 
and all other United States property in San Antonio. On May 11, 1861, 
Jefferson Davis appointed McCulloch a brigadier general, the second-
ranking brigadier general in the Confederate Army and the first general-
grade officer to be commissioned from the civilian community. McCulloch 
was assigned to the command of Indian Territory and established his 
headquarters at Little Rock, Arkansas, where he began to build the Army 
of the West with regiments from Arkansas, Louisiana, and Texas. Although 
hampered by logistical nightmares and a total disagreement over strategic 
objectives with Missouri general Sterling Price, with whom he had been 
ordered to cooperate, McCulloch, with the assistance of Albert Pike, es-
tablished vital alliances with the Cherokees, Choctaws, Creeks, and other 
inhabitants of what is now eastern Oklahoma. On August 10, 1861, he 
won an impressive victory over the army of Brig. Gen. Nathaniel Lyon at 
Wilson’s Creek, or Oak Hills, in southwest Missouri. McCulloch’s continuing inability to come to personal or strategic 
accord with Price, however, caused President Davis, on January 10, 1862, to appoint Maj. Gen. Earl Van Dorn to 
the command of both McCulloch’s and Price’s armies. Van Dorn launched the Army of the West on an expedition to 
capture St. Louis, a plan that McCulloch bitterly resisted. The Confederates encountered the army of Union major 
general Samuel R. Curtis on the Little Sugar Creek in northwest Arkansas. Due largely to McCulloch’s remarkable 
knowledge of the terrain, Van Dorn’s army was able to flank the enemy out of a strong position and cut his line of 
communication to the north. McCulloch, commanding the Confederate right wing in the ensuing battle of Pea Ridge, 
or Elkhorn Tavern, on March 7, 1862, overran a battery of artillery and drove the enemy from his original position. 
As federal resistance stiffened around 10:30 A.M., however, McCulloch rode forward through the thick underbrush to 
determine the location of the enemy line, was shot from his horse, and died 
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instantly. His command devolved upon Brig. Gen. James M. McIntosh, who was killed but a few minutes later while 
leading a charge to recover McCulloch’s body. Col. Louis Hébert, the division’s senior regimental commander, was 
captured in the same charge, and soon McCulloch’s division, without leadership, began to fall apart and drift toward 
the rear. Most participants and later historians attribute to McCulloch’s untimely death the disaster at Pea Ridge and 
the subsequent loss of Arkansas to the Union forces.

McCulloch was first buried on the field, but his body was removed to the cemetery at Little Rock and thence to the 
State Cemetery in Austin. McCulloch never married. His papers are located in the Barker Texas History Center at 
the University of Texas at Austin.
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XI. Hiram Bronson Granbury
Written by Palmer Bradley and Bob Kent

Hiram Bronson Granbury, Confederate general, was born 
in Copiah County, Mississippi, on March 1, 1831, the son 
of Nancy (McLaurin) and Norvell R. Granbury, a Baptist 
minister. He was educated at Oakland College. In the 
1850s he moved to Texas and lived in Waco, where he was 
admitted to the Bar; he served as chief justice of McLennan 
County from 1856 to 1858. On March 31, 1858, Granbury 
married Fannie Sims of Waco; they had no children. At the 
outbreak of the Civil War he recruited the Waco Guards, 
which became a unit in the Seventh Texas Infantry in Brig. 
Gen. John Gregg’s brigade of the Confederate Army. In 
November 1861 at Hopkinsville, Kentucky, the regiment 
elected Granbury as major. He was captured with the com-
mand at the battle of Fort Donelson on February 15, 1862, and was paroled that same year in an officers’ exchange. 
Upon his release he was promoted to colonel. In April 1863 Granbury was at Port Hudson, Louisiana, and in May 
he participated in the battle of Raymond, Mississippi. Shortly thereafter he joined Gen. Joseph E. Johnston’s army, 
assembled for the relief of Vicksburg. Granbury commanded the Seventh Texas in Brig. Gen. Bushrod R. Johnson’s 
brigade of Gen. John B. Hood’s corps at Chickamauga, where he was wounded. He participated in the battle of 
Missionary Ridge, where his commanding officer was James A. Smith; shortly thereafter he succeeded to brigade 
command. During the retreat from that battle he was particularly distinguished for his conduct at Ringold Gap, where 
he commanded his own brigade. Granbury was commissioned brigadier general on February 29, 1864. During the 
ensuing Atlanta campaign, he served in Cleburne’s division of Gen. Joseph E. Johnston’s Army of Tennessee and 
was again particularly distinguished at the battle of New Hope Church. After the fall of Atlanta, Granbury led his bri-
gade in Hood’s disastrous invasion of Tennessee, and at the battle of Franklin on November 30, 1864, he was killed 
in action. Granbury was first buried near Franklin, Tennessee. His body was later reinterred at the Ashwood Church 
Cemetery south of Columbia. On November 30, 1893, his remains were removed to Granbury, Texas, seat of Hood 
County, as the town was named in his honor.

The correct spelling of the general’s name has long been debated. He attended Oakland College under the name 
Granberry, but after graduating and moving to Texas he changed the spelling to Granbury. Why he changed the 
spelling of his name is unknown. His sister, Mrs. Nautie Granberry Moss, stated that he changed the spelling of his 
name based on a peculiar whim. The official records and correspondence of the Civil War show his named spelled 
as Granbury, although many Texas newspaper articles at the time referred to him as General Granberry. When he 
was killed at the battle of Franklin and buried in Tennessee, the name on his tombstone was spelled Granberry, per-
haps because that was the spelling of the family name in the area. When he was exhumed and reburied in Granbury 
in 1893, the name on the tombstone was spelled Granberry. Apparently, however, the reburial opened a debate on 
the proper spelling of his namesake city, and a letter by one J. N. Doyle in the Dallas Morning News reviewed the 
history of the general’s name and concluded by pointing out that deeds for lots in the city, veterans who had served 
with him, and local citizens all used the spelling Granbury. In 1913, when a statue was erected on the Hood County 
courthouse square, the name was spelled Granbury. In 1996 a new tombstone with the name spelled Granbury was 
put in place, and after almost 150 years, the spelling of the general’s name on his tombstone, statue, and name city 
became uniform as Granbury.
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XII. Richard Taylor
Written by T. Michael Parrish

Richard Taylor, Confederate general, only son of Margaret Mackall (Smith) 
and Gen. Zachary Taylor, was born at the Taylor family home, Springfield, 
near Louisville, Kentucky, on January 27, 1826, and named for his grandfa-
ther, a Virginian who had served as a Revolutionary War officer. He attend-
ed private schools in Kentucky and Massachusetts before being admitted 
to Yale College in 1843. He graduated two years later, having merited no 
scholastic honors but instead concentrated on reading widely in classical 
and military history. He agreed to manage the family cotton plantation in 
Jefferson County, Mississippi, and in 1850 he persuaded his father (now 
President Taylor by virtue of his election in 1848) to purchase Fashion, 
a large sugar plantation in St. Charles Parish, Louisiana. After Zachary 
Taylor’s untimely death in July 1850, Taylor inherited Fashion. Steadily he 
increased its acreage, improved its sugar works (at considerable expense), 
and expanded its labor force to nearly 200 slaves, making him one of the 
richest men in Louisiana. But the freeze of 1856 ruined his crop, forcing 
him into heavy debt with a large mortgage on Fashion, a fragile condition 
underwritten largely by his generous mother-in-law Aglae Bringier, a wealthy French Creole matriarch whose daugh-
ter, Myrthe, Taylor had married in 1851. (They eventually had two sons and three daughters.) Yet he still projected 
an image of aristocratic affluence by racing thoroughbred horses at the famous Metairie Track and appearing at the 
gaming tables of the exclusive Boston Club in New Orleans.

Taylor was elected to the Louisiana Senate in 1855; he was affiliated first with the Whig party, then the American 
(Know-Nothing) party, and finally the Democratic party, veering cautiously toward a strong anti-Republican yet reluc-
tant proslavery position. His sense of nationalistic, Whiggish conservatism, although thoroughly laced with a South-
ern disdain for agitating abolitionists, also made him distrustful of demagogic Southern fire-eaters’ demands for dis-
union. Both of these volatile expressions of the nation’s expansive democracy Taylor found repulsive and ultimately 
tragic. As a rueful delegate from Louisiana to the 1860 national Democratic Convention in Charleston, he witnessed 
the party’s fatal splintering along sectional lines. There he attempted, but failed, to forge a less radical course for the 
South, arguing for a compromise between stunned moderates and implacable secessionists. Now viewing war as 
inevitable, Taylor willingly served as a delegate to the Louisiana secession convention in January 1861 and voted 
with the convention’s majority for immediate secession. Yet his prophetic pleas to protect the state from military inva-
sion went largely unheeded by overconfident fellow secessionists. He retired in disgust to his plantation, recognizing 
the Confederacy’s fundamental lack of unity and even predicting eventual defeat, but he remained willing to serve if 
called. He was elected colonel of the Ninth Louisiana Infantry, assumed command in July, and took the regiment to 
Virginia. Surprisingly, in late October he received promotion to brigadier general by order of President Jefferson Da-
vis (his brother-in-law by Davis’s first marriage to one of Taylor’s sisters). Although devoid of formal military training 
or combat experience, Taylor enjoyed his brigade’s strong respect along with a reputation as a consummate student 
of military history, strategy, and tactics. “Dick Taylor was a born soldier,” asserted a close friend. “Probably no civilian 
of his time was more deeply versed in the annals of war.” Taylor was placed in command of the Louisiana Brigade, 
which included Maj. Chatham Roberdeau Wheat’s notorious battalion of “Louisiana Tigers,” and proved vital to Maj. 
Gen. Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson’s brilliant Shenandoah Valley campaign during the spring of 1862. Jackson 
used Taylor’s brigade as an elite strike force that set a crippling marching pace and dealt swift flanking attacks. At 
Front Royal on May 23, again at Winchester on May 25, and finally at the climactic battle of Port Republic on June 
9, he led the 
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Louisianans in timely assaults against strong enemy positions. He was promoted to major general on July 25, 1862, 
at thirty-six years of age the youngest Confederate officer to attain such rank to date. He suffered terribly from 
chronic rheumatoid arthritis, however, and so was given command of the District of West Louisiana and charged 
with reviving his home state’s severely deteriorated war effort. Almost from the start he feuded with his superior, 
Gen. Edmund Kirby Smith, commander of the Trans-Mississippi Department, mainly regarding Taylor’s desper-
ate need for troops to defend Louisiana’s civilian population against destructive federal forays. Smith also thwarted 
Taylor’s desire to free New Orleans from federal occupation, a goal that received strong, although temporary, ap-
proval and encouragement from Secretary of War George Wythe Randolph and President Davis. During 1863 Taylor 
directed an effective series of clashes with Union forces over control of lower Louisiana, most notably at Fort Bisland 
and Franklin (April 13–14), Brashear City (June 23), and Bayou Bourbeau (November 3).

In the early spring of 1864, after withdrawing up the Red River Valley in the face of Maj. Gen. Nathaniel P. Banks’s 
invasion force of more than 25,000 men, Taylor became appalled at the devastation inflicted by the enemy upon 
Louisiana’s heartland. On April 8, with an army of no more than 9,000 men, mostly Louisianans and Texans, he ig-
nored Smith’s explicit instructions to delay, instead attacking Banks’s disorganized column a few miles below Mans-
field near Sabine Crossroads. The Confederates swept the terror-stricken Yankees through the thick pine forest and 
then pursued them southward to Pleasant Hill. There, the next day, the federals withstood Taylor’s assaults, forcing 
him to retire from the field. But Banks’s generals compelled him to withdraw to Alexandria on the Red River. Taylor 
was outraged when Smith abruptly detached Walker’s Texas Division for fighting in Arkansas, and he was left with 
only 5,000 men to lay siege to Alexandria. Taylor repeatedly demanded Walker’s Division in order to crush Banks 
and liberate New Orleans, but Smith stubbornly refused. Finally Banks’s army escaped from Alexandria on May 13. 
Convinced of Smith’s arrogant ambition and incompetence, Taylor exploded with a series of insulting, insubordinate 
diatribes against Smith and submitted his resignation. Although unwilling to admit his strategic blunder in failing to 
allow Taylor to keep Walker’s Division, Smith harbored no personal grudge. Taylor, however, never forgave Smith. 
Despite his heroic status for having saved most of Louisiana and virtually all of Texas from military conquest, Taylor 
viewed the Red River Campaign as a profound disappointment.

Preferring to ignore the Taylor-Smith feud, on July 18 President Davis 
placed Taylor in command of the Department of Alabama, Mississippi, and 
East Louisiana and promoted him to lieutenant general, thus making him 
one of only three non-West Pointers who achieved such high rank in the 
South. From September 1864 until war’s end Taylor struggled to defend his 
department, receiving scant cooperation from state governors, legislatures, 
and local militia units, while also contending with Jefferson Davis’s poor 
coordination of the Confederacy’s cumbersome bureaucracy, especially 
its divisive departmental system. Fortunately, Taylor enjoyed the benefit of 
Nathan Bedford Forrest’s superb cavalry, which resisted federal incursions 
and supported the embattled Army of Tennessee by raiding enemy supply 
lines. Forrest showed genuine admiration for Taylor’s leadership, remark-
ing candidly, “He’s the biggest man in the lot. If we’d had more like him, we 
would have licked the Yankees long ago.” In January 1865 Taylor briefly 
assumed command of the shattered ranks of the Army of Tennessee after 
Gen. John Bell Hood’s catastrophic defeats at Franklin and Nashville several weeks earlier. As the Southern cause 
rapidly disintegrated during the spring, Taylor saw his own department gutted by Brig. Gen. James H. Wilson’s mas-
sive cavalry raid through Alabama and Maj. Gen. Edward R. S. ’s triumphant siege of Mobile. Taylor had “shared the 
fortunes of the Confederacy,” as he later recalled, having “sat by its 
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cradle and followed its hearse.” Indeed, the war had inflicted harsh personal sacrifices: he lost his plantation to de-
struction and confiscation by federal soldiers; his two young sons died of scarlet fever as wartime refugees; and his 
wife suffered so severely that she lapsed into a slow decline that ended with her premature death in 1875.

After surrendering his department to Canby on May 4, 1865, Taylor took up residency in New Orleans and tried to 
revive his finances by securing a lease of the New Basin Canal from the state. He also garnered the support of a 
wealthy New York City attorney, Samuel Latham Mitchell Barlow, one of the Democratic party’s most effective pow-
erbrokers. At Barlow’s bidding Taylor negotiated with presidents Andrew Johnson and Ulysses S. Grant and also lob-
bied members of Congress, all in an attempt to advance democratic principles, mainly by gaining lenient treatment 
for the South. Increasingly distrustful of Radical Republicans, Taylor finally cursed Reconstruction as a loathsome 
evil, with Johnson as its inept victim and Grant as its corrupt handmaiden. The continual racial and political strife, 
much of which Taylor witnessed personally in New Orleans, gradually pushed him along with many other genteel 
conservatives into a reactionary position that lent tacit approval to the corrupt, blatantly violent backlash by Southern 
white Democrats against freedmens’ efforts to assert their new voting rights under Republican sponsorship. Shortly 
after his wife’s death in 1875, Taylor moved with his three daughters to Winchester, Virginia. Intimately involved 
in New Yorker Samuel J. Tilden’s Democratic presidential campaign in 1876, Taylor vainly attempted to influence 
congressional maneuverings in the wake of the disputed election returns, a national crisis ultimately diffused by the 
pervasive breakdown of solidarity among Democratic leaders. On April 12, 1879, Taylor died at Barlow’s home in 
New York City, succumbing to severe internal congestion resulting from his long battle with rheumatoid arthritis. Al-
though Taylor had never demonstrated strong religious convictions, an Episcopal clergyman was present to minister 
to him. He was buried in a family crypt in Metairie Cemetery, New Orleans. Only a few weeks before his death he 
completed his memoirs, Destruction and Reconstruction, one of the most literate and colorful firsthand accounts of 
the Civil War era.
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XIII. Hood’s Texas Brigade
Written by Anonymous 

Hood’s Texas Brigade was organized on 
October 22, 1861, in Richmond, Virginia. 
It was initially commanded by Brig. Gen. 
Louis T. Wigfall and composed of the 
First, Fourth, and Fifth Texas Infantry regi-
ments, the only Texas troops to fight in the 
Eastern Theater. The First was command-
ed by Wigfall and Lt. Col. Hugh McLeod, 
the Fourth by Col. John Bell Hood and 
Lt. Col. John Marshall, and the Fifth by 
Col. James J. Archer and Lt. Jerome B. 
Robertson. On November 20, 1861, the 
Eighteenth Georgia Infantry, commanded 
by William T. Wofford, was attached. On 
June 1, 1862, eight infantry companies from Wade Hampton’s South Carolina Legion, commanded by Lt. Colonel 
Martin W. Gary, were added, and in November 1862 the Third Arkansas Infantry, commanded by Col. Van H. Man-
ning, joined the brigade. Both the Georgia and South Carolina units were transferred out in November 1862, but the 
Third Arkansas remained until the end of the war.

Wigfall resigned command of the brigade on February 20, 1862, and on March 7 Hood was promoted to brigadier 
general and placed in command. Because of his daring leadership the brigade became known as Hood’s Texas 
Brigade, despite his brief service of only six months as commander. The brigade served throughout the war in Rob-
ert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia and in James Longstreet’s First Corps. It participated in at least twenty-four 
battles in 1862, including Eltham’s Landing, Gaines’ Mill, Second Manassas, and Sharpsburg (Antietam). In October 
the Third Arkansas regiment replaced the Eighteenth Georgia and Hampton’s Legion. On November 1, 1862, Brig. 
Gen. Jerome B. Robertson became brigade commander, and Hood was elevated to command of the division in 
which the Texas Brigade operated.

In April 1863 the brigade moved to North Carolina; in May it rejoined Lee’s army; and on July 1, 2, and 3, it took part 
in the battle of Gettysburg. In Georgia the brigade fought on September 19 and 20 at Chickamauga, where Hood 
was wounded and forced to leave his division, ending his official connection with the brigade. In Tennessee the 
brigade joined in the sieges of Chattanooga and Knoxville. Gen. John Gregg became commander when the brigade 
returned to Virginia in February 1864. In the battle of the Wilderness, General Lee personally led the Texans in one 
of the charges. After Gregg was killed in October the brigade was temporarily led by Col. Clinton M. Winkler and Col. 
F. S. Bass. At the surrender at Appomattox on April 10, 1865, Col. Robert M. Powell commanded the brigade, Capt. 
W. T. Hill the Fifth regiment, Lt. Col. C. M. Winkler the Fourth, Col. F. S. Bass the First, and Lt. Col. R. S. Taylor the 
Third Arkansas.

It is estimated that at the beginning of the war the Texas regiments comprised about 3,500 men and that during the 
war recruits increased the number to almost 4,400. The brigade sustained a 61 percent casualty rate and, at its sur-
render, numbered close to 600 officers and men. It was praised by generals Thomas J. (Stonewall) Jackson, James 
Longstreet, and Robert E. Lee and by high officials of the Confederacy.
The Hood’s Brigade Association was organized on May 14, 1872. Sixty-three reunions were held between that date 
and 1933, when the last two physically able veterans, E. W. B. Leach and Sam O. Moodie, both ninety-one, met for 
the last time in Houston. Through the efforts of the association a monument in memory of the brigade was erected 
on the south drive of the Capitol in Austin on October 27, 1910. The monument is a thirty-five-foot marble shaft with 
a bronze statue of a brigade infantryman on top, mounted on a sixteen-foot base carved with the names of all the 
battles fought by the brigade. 

The association was reactivated at Hill Junior College in the summer of 1966 with a membership of Hood’s Brigade 
descendants. It is an activity of the Texas Heritage Museum at Hill Junior College and meets in even-numbered 
years.
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XIV. Eighth Texas Calvary [Terry’s Texas Rangers]
Written by Thomas W. Cutrer

The Eighth Texas Cavalry, a group of Texas volunteers for the 
Confederate Army popularly known as Terry’s Texas Rangers, 
was assembled by Benjamin Franklin Terry in August 1861. 
Each man was required to furnish a shotgun or carbine, a Colt 
revolver, a Bowie knife, and a saddle, bridle, and blanket. The 
army would provide the mounts. The regiment was mustered 
into Confederate service at Houston on September 9, 1861. 
Terry was elected colonel, Thomas S. Lubbock lieutenant 
colonel, and Thomas Harrison major. With the death of Colonel 
Terry at the battle of Woodsonville, Kentucky, on December 8, 
1861, Lubbock, then sick in a Bowling Green, Kentucky, hospital, was advanced to command of the regiment, but 
he died within a few days. Subsequently, John Austin Wharton was elected colonel and John G. Walker lieutenant 
colonel of the regiment. When Wharton was promoted to brigadier general in the fall of 1862, Harrison became the 
regimental commander; he served in that post until the end of the war.

Although the regiment had been promised duty in Virginia, it was di-
verted to Bowling Green, Kentucky, at the request of Gen. Albert Sidney 
Johnston, who was in command of the Confederate army headquar-
tered there. The Terry Rangers distinguished themselves at the battles 
of Shiloh (April 6–8, 1862), Perryville (October 8, 1862), Murfreesboro 
(December 31, 1862–January 2, 1863), Chickamauga (September 
19–20, 1863), and Chattanooga (November 24–25, 1863); in the Atlanta 
campaign (May 1–September 2, 1864); and as raiders in Kentucky and 
Tennessee under Lt. Gen. Nathan Bedford Forrest. The rangers were 
also part of the inadequate force under Gen. Joseph E. Johnston that 
attempted to slow Maj. Gen. William T. Sherman’s inexorable “march to 
the sea” during the final months of the war. Terry’s Rangers delivered 
what was probably the last charge of the Army of Tennessee at the 
battle of Bentonville (March 19–20, 1865). Rather than surrender with 
the rest of ’s army at Durham Station, North Carolina, on April 26, 1865, 
158 of the reported 248 survivors of the regiment slipped through Union 
lines to join other Confederates yet in the field. With the total collapse 
of the Southern cause, however, the Terry Rangers drifted home as individuals and in small groups, having never 
officially surrendered. With the exception of Hood’s Texas Brigade, the Eighth Texas Cavalry was probably the best-
known Texas unit to serve in the Civil War. It earned a reputation that ranked it among the most effective mounted 
regiments in the western theater of operations.
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XV. Sibley’s Brigade
Written by Jerry Thompson

On May 31, 1861, Henry Hopkins Sibley 
resigned his commission in the Second 
United States Dragoons and hurried to 
Richmond, where he persuaded Jefferson 
Davis to adopt a grandiose plan to cap-
ture New Mexico Territory and use it as 
a gateway for Confederate occupation of 
Colorado and California. He organized a 
brigade at San Antonio in the late summer 
and early fall of 1861. Col. James Reily, 
a seasoned diplomat with military experi-
ence, commanded the Fourth Regiment. 
Col. Thomas Green, a veteran of the battle 
of San Jacinto and the Mexican War, was 
placed in command of the Fifth Regiment, 
and Col. William Steele, like Sibley a veteran of the Second Dragoons, headed the Seventh Regiment. By Christmas 
1861 the brigade had set up headquarters at Fort Bliss, where Col. John Robert Baylor’s Second Regiment of Texas 
Mounted Rifles was incorporated into the brigade’s ranks. When the “Confederate Army of New Mexico” marched 
up the Rio Grande River and attempted to bypass the federal bastion of Fort Craig, the bloody battle of Valverde 
resulted-a defeat for the Union garrison. After occupying Albuquerque and raising the Stars and Bars over Santa Fe, 
the territorial capital, General Sibley ordered the brigade to move against Fort Union, a major federal supply depot 
for the Southwest. The advance guard of the brigade under Maj. Charles L. Pyron was defeated by Colorado “Pikes 
Peakers” in Apache Canyon, but a larger force under the command of Col. William R. Scurry drove the federals from 
the field on March 28 in the battle of Glorieta. The battle proved to be the “Gettysburg of the West,” however, when 
the brigade lost its supplies at Johnson’s Ranch in Apache Canyon to the Confederate rear. After skirmishes at Al-
buquerque and Peralta, the brigade took a disastrous route across the eastern slopes of the San Mateo Mountains 
while evacuating the territory. Col. William Steele, with a force of some 600 men, was left to guard the Mesilla valley, 
part of Confederate Arizona, but he too retreated into Texas at the approach of Gen. James H. Carleton’s California 
Column. Almost a third of Sibley’s more than 2,500 men were lost in New Mexico.

After Sibley was called to Richmond to account for the New Mexico disaster, the brigade was commanded by Col. 
Green and participated in the recapture of Galveston on January 1, 1863. After transfer to Louisiana, the brigade 
next saw action in the Acadian bayou country under Gen. Richard Taylor. After the Confederate defeat at the battle 
of Bisland on April 13 and 14, 1863, in which Col. Reily was killed, Sibley was court-martialed by Taylor and re-
moved from command. In July part of the brigade commanded by Green attacked the federal garrison at Brashear 
City before moving east to assault Donaldsonville. Although temporarily ordered back to Texas in December 1863 
to guard the Texas coast near Galveston, the brigade was countermarched to Louisiana to join Taylor in time to play 
a major role in the decisive battles of the Red River Campaign at Sabine Cross Roads near Mansfield on April 6, 
1864, and at Pleasant Hill on April 9. At Blair’s Landing on the Red River, Gen. Green was killed while leading an 
attack on a fleet of federal gunboats. Back in the Bayou Teche region, Col. William Polk Hardeman assumed com-
mand of the brigade. After brief duty at Valdalia, on the Mississippi River opposite Natchez, the brigade was ordered 
to Arkansas in the fall of 1864. Most of the men were in Houston in May 1865 under the command of Col. Henry C. 
McNeil when they surrendered as part of the Trans-Mississippi command.



page 39page 39

XVI. First Texas Calvary
Written by Eugene M. Ott, Jr. and Glen E. Lich

During the Civil War Texas contributed two regiments and two battalions of cavalry to the federal army. A total of 
1,915 men from Texas served the Union; of these 141 died, 12 in action. One source states that “the strength of the 
Texas Federal Regiments consisted primarily of Mexicans, Germans, and Irishmen.” While it is true that the regiment 
had a high proportion of Spanish-speaking Texans and first-generation immigrants, among them German Unionists 
from the Hill Country, the officer cadre was mostly mainstream southern in background. The larger of the two Texas 
units was the First Texas Cavalry Regiment. It was organized at New Orleans, Louisiana, on November 6, 1862, 
under the command of Edmund J. Davis, who, before the war’s end, became a brigadier general. The unit was 
composed of eight companies. Until September 1863 the First Texas Cavalry was assigned to the defense of New 
Orleans. During that time two companies were sent to Galveston but did not land due to the Confederate capture of 
that city in January 1863. While in Louisiana, the regiment saw its initial action on the Amite River in May 1863 and 
participated in operations around Morgan City. In September 1863 the First Texas Cavalry sailed from New Orleans 
as part of the Sabine Pass expedition but was not in action. Returning to Louisiana, the regiment was engaged in 
the Western Louisiana (Têche) Campaign from October 3 through October 17, 1863. The regiment was moved back 
to New Orleans at the end of this assignment and embarked on October 23 as part of the Rio Grande expedition, 
landing on the south Texas coast on November 2 and occupying Brownsville four days later. Within a month the First 
Texas Cavalry, which had reached Texas with a strength of 16 officers and 205 enlisted men, grew by slightly over 
50 percent. During this time the Second Texas Cavalry Regiment was formed at Brownsville. Both regiments left 
Texas in July 1864 for Louisiana. Two companies, however, of the First Texas Cavalry remained at Brownsville and 
did not rejoin their parent regiment until six months later. In September 1864 the First Texas Cavalry was involved 
in some minor actions near Morganza, Louisiana. On November 1, 1864, the two regiments were merged into one 
twelve company regiment (normally a regiment at this time had ten companies). The new command was called the 
First Texas Volunteer Cavalry. Ordered to Baton Rouge on November 19, 1864, the First Texas Volunteers engaged 
in patrolling and reconnaissance duties until the end of the Civil War. In May and June 1865 the regiment was at Vi-
dalia, Louisiana. On June 29, 1865, the Volunteers were ordered to Texas and mustered out of service on November 
4, 1865.
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XVII. Susann Shubrick Hayne Pinckney
Written by Paul M. Lucko

Susanna Pinckney [pseud. Miss McPherson], nineteenth-century romantic novelist, daughter of Thomas Shubrick 
and Carolene (Finney) Pinckney, was born near Fields Store in what is now Waller County, Texas, in 1843. When 
she was five her parents sent her to live with relatives in Charleston, South Carolina, for education in southern cul-
ture. She returned to Fields Store at the age of thirteen. She never married, having rejected a proposal from a man 
named Groce Lawrence because her father disliked him. Lawrence, reputedly an alcoholic, enlisted in the Confeder-
ate Army as a member of Hood’s Texas Brigade and died in the Wilderness Fight in Virginia in May 1864. The Civil 
War, in which two of Susanna’s younger brothers fought, served as the central influence upon her writing career. 
Pinckney published a few short stories in Texas newspapers before she was forty-nine. In 1892 the Nixon-Jones 
Printing Company of St. Louis printed her first novel, Douglas; Tender and True. In 1906 the Neale Publishing Com-
pany printed In the Southland, which contained two novelettes: “Disinherited” and “White Violets.” During the same 
year Neale also published Darcy Pinckney. Susanna may also have written two or three other books, but no record 
of those publications survives.

Portions of her novels were set on the Texas frontier, where buffalo, Comanches, and Mexican bandits roam. “White 
Violets” is about three Texas sisters and their love affairs. Pinckney’s writing extolled the antebellum South and the 
lost cause of the Civil War. Her characters frequently were Confederate colonels and southern belles, who either 
traveled abroad meeting members of the European aristocracy or worked as military nurses during the war. She 
refers to Hood’s brigade as young soldiers who protected Gen. Robert E. Lee during the wilderness fight only to lose 
their own lives. Her most tragic characters were jilted male or female lovers; often the heroine saved the hero from 
the depredations of alcoholism. One critic analyzes the Pinckneian oeuvre as an escape from the drudgery of daily 
life to the a glorious aristocratic life.

Miss McPherson moved from Fields Store to nearby Hempstead, probably sometime after the Civil War. There she 
lived with her brother John M. Pinckney, whom she inspired to study law; he entered politics and in 1903 became a 
member of the United States House of Representatives. Susanna moved to Washington with John after his election. 
After John and another brother, Thomas, were murdered at Hempstead in 1905, she moved to Houston, where she 
lived with a niece. Susanna Pinckney was a member of the Episcopal Church and the Texas Press Club. She was a 
prohibitionist. She died on November 23, 1909, and was buried in the Hempstead City Cemetery.
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XVIII. Sarah Emma Evelyn Edmundson Seelye
Written by Paul F. Cecil

Sarah Seelye was born Sarah Emma Evelyn Edmundson in New Brunswick 
province, Canada, in December 1841. To avoid an unwanted marriage, she 
ran away from home when she was seventeen, disguised as a boy. She 
continued her male masquerade as a publisher’s agent in the midwestern 
United States and, on May 25, 1861, enlisted in Company F, Second Michi-
gan Volunteer Infantry Regiment, under the alias Franklin Thompson. For 
nearly two years she served in the Union Army undetected, with assignments 
including male nurse, regimental mail orderly, and brigade postmaster, and 
on special assignments for the secret service. Ironically, in the secret service 
duty she penetrated Confederate lines “disguised” as a woman. Fearing 
her guise would be discovered when she became ill with malaria in 1863, 
she deserted and resumed a normal existence in Ohio as a female. After 
regaining her health she again volunteered as a nurse, but this time with the 
Christian Sanitary Commission at Harper’s Ferry, and as a female. Under a 
shortened version of her maiden name, S. Emma E. Edmonds, she wrote a 
fanciful, but highly successful, account of her experiences in the army, Nurse 
and Spy in the Union Army (1865). The popularity and exposure she gained 
from the book and its revelation that she had deserted the army at one time led the government to cancel her pen-
sion. She later married a childhood neighbor, Linus Seelye, and reportedly had five children, three of whom died in 
infancy. A congressional bill in 1884 recognized her service to the Union and granted her a pension of twelve dollars 
a month. The charge of desertion from the army was removed by Congress in 1886. In the early 1890s the Seelye 
family moved to La Porte, Texas, and on April 22, 1897, Sarah Seelye became a member of the McClellan Post, 
Grand Army of the Republic, in Houston, Texas-the only woman member in the history of the GAR, though as many 
as four hundred women may actually have served in the Union army. At the time of her death Seelye was writing her 
memoirs of the Civil War. She died in La Porte, Texas, on September 5, 1898. Three years later, at the insistence of 
her fellow members of the McClellan Post, her remains were transferred to the GAR plot in the Washington (Ger-
man) Cemetery in Houston.
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XIX. David Owen Dodd
Written by Laura House

David Owen Dodd, teenage Civil War spy, was born in Victoria, Texas, in 
1847, the son of Andrew Marion Dodd. When he was twelve, his family 
moved to Benton, Arkansas. Dodd spent most of his life in Texas. In 1862 
he moved with his parents and two sisters to Little Rock, Arkansas, where 
he attended St. John’s College, then contracted malaria and withdrew from 
school. Instead of returning to college after his illness, he began working 
in the Little Rock telegraph office. During the summer of 1862 he and his 
father moved to Monroe, Louisiana, where Dodd worked in the local tele-
graph office, in which the lines were controlled by the Confederate Army. 
He remained there for four or five months, keeping in close contact with 
Confederate troop movement in Louisiana and Northern Mississippi. In 
January of 1863 he went to Granada, Mississippi, where for eight months 
he helped his father, a sutler for the Third Arkansas Regiment. In Septem-
ber of that year he returned to Little Rock to help his mother and two sis-
ters get away and behind the Confederate lines because the federal troops 
had captured the city. He was not successful. After a few weeks Dodd 
began working in a sutler’s store that aided federal troops. In December 1863 his father unexpectedly arrived in 
Little Rock to move his wife, son, and daughters to Camden, Arkansas, by wagon. Shortly thereafter, Dodd returned 
to Little Rock to help with his father’s unsettled business.

He received a pass from Gen. James F. Fagan, a family friend, in exchange for information about the Union troops 
in Little Rock. Dodd was to report his findings to General Fagan when he returned to Camden. On his way to Little 
Rock, he met Frank Tomlinson of Pine Bluff, who was also a seventeen year-old Confederate spy. Tomlinson, sent 
on a mission to find military information for Gen. John S. Marmaduke of Mississippi, succeeded in his endeavor. It 
was later believed that during the Christmas holidays Dodd visited Union headquarters and other military offices 
in Little Rock to gather strategic military information for General Fagan and wrote his notes in Morse Code. He left 
Little Rock on December 29 and safely passed by several federal pickets. At dusk he emerged from the woods to 
find a squad of the federal army and was arrested by Sergeant Miehr of Company B, First Missouri Cavalry, be-
cause he did not have his pass, which had been taken by a federal picket, Pvt. Daniel Olderburg. After he was es-
corted to the picket headquarters, it was confirmed that the pass had been taken. Before Dodd was to be released, 
he was searched for possession of contraband. He was found worthy of release until a member of one of the troops 
noticed he was wearing two different shoes. His shoes were inspected, and his small notebook was found in one of 
the soles. Lieutenant Stopral of the federal troops identified the Morse Code and could read enough to be skepti-
cal. Dodd’s papers were taken by Capt. George Hanna, and he was placed in the guardhouse. The next morning, 
December 30, he was turned over to Capt. John Baird, who took him to Little Rock to stand trial.

The trial, presided over by Brig. Gen. John M. Thayer, began the following day. In its six-day duration witnesses 
testified that they had seen Dodd at different functions during the holidays and did not notice any evidence of spying. 
Robert Clowery, assistant superintendent of the United States Military Telegraph and later president of the Western 
Union Telegraph Company, provided the deciding testimony. Clowery could read Dodd’s Morse Code notes, which 
listed the manpower and weaponry of the Union forces. Dodd maintained his innocence, but on January 5, 1864, 
was found guilty and sentenced to hang. He then confessed that he had received orders from General Fagan to 
relay information about the federal troops in Little Rock and stated that he would not have been allowed to visit Little 
Rock unless he agreed to spy. Maj. Gen. Frederick Steele, who ordered Dodd’s trial, believed a federal soldier had 
assisted Dodd and promised to drop the charges if Dodd would name the traitor. Dodd refused, and his sentence 
was confirmed. On January 8, 1864, at 3:00 P.M., he was executed by hanging on the grounds of St. John’s Col-
lege, his alma mater, before a crowd of 2,000 citizens and a 4,000-man military escort. Dodd, described by his moth-
er as a “hot-headed Southern boy,” may have been the youngest participant in the war who was hanged as a spy. 
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XX. William Clarke Quantrill
Written by David Paul Smith

William Clarke Quantrill (Charley Hart, Charles William Quantrill, and Billy 
Quantrill), Civil War guerrilla leader, was born at Canal Dover, Ohio, on 
July 31, 1837, to Thomas Henry and Caroline Cornelia (Clarke) Quantrill. 
He taught school briefly in Ohio and Illinois; in 1857 he moved to Kan-
sas, and in 1858 he accompanied an army provision train to Utah. At Fort 
Bridger, Salt Lake City, and elsewhere in the territory, Quantrill was associ-
ated with a number of murders and thefts. He fled a warrant for his arrest 
in Utah in 1860 and returned to Kansas. In December he joined a group in 
an effort to free the slaves of a Missouri man; he betrayed the plans, and 
three of the abolitionists were killed. Quantrill collected a group of ren-
egades in the Kansas-Missouri area. He fought with Confederate forces 
at the battle of Wilson’s Creek in Oakhills, Missouri, in August 1861 but 
soon thereafter began irregular independent operations. Quantrill and his 
band attacked Union camps, patrols, and settlements. In November 1862 
the group murdered twelve unarmed teamsters. Union authorities declared 
them outlaws. Quantrill’s role in the capture of Independence, however, led 
to his being commissioned a captain in the Confederate Army. Shortly thereafter, he sought a regular command un-
der the Confederacy Partisan Ranger Act, but his reputation for brutality preceded him, and his request was denied, 
although he was promoted to the rank of colonel.

In mid-October 1863 Quantrill and his band crossed the Red River at Colbert’s Ferry and established winter camp 
on Mineral Springs Creek fifteen miles northwest of Sherman. During his first winter in Grayson County Quantrill and 
his men may have acted as a police force against cattle thieves who raided farms and ranches from Indian Terri-
tory. This winter camp was necessary, in part, for Quantrill’s men to escape retribution for two of their recent affairs, 
the first being their infamous sack of Lawrence, Kansas, on August 21, 1863, during which they looted the town and 
shot approximately 180 men and boys. Weeks later, while on their way to Texas, Quantrill’s well-mounted and armed 
force of 400 men came upon the 100-man headquarters escort of Union general James G. Blunt. Quantrill’s band 
attacked on October 6, 1863, and killed eighty men and wounded eighteen in the Baxter Springs Massacre. Many 
were murdered after having surrendered. The raiders also captured several fully loaded supply wagons.

Quantrill reported at Bonham on October 26 to Gen. Henry E. McCulloch. One of the officers described Quantrill as 
standing about five feet ten inches, weighing about 150 pounds, with fair hair, blue eyes, and a florid complexion. 
Lt. Gen. Edmund Kirby Smith, commander of the Trans-Mississippi Confederacy, approved of Quantrill and ordered 
McCulloch to use Quantrill’s men to help round up the increasing number of deserters and conscription-dodgers in 
North Texas. Quantrill’s men captured but few and killed several, whereupon McCulloch pulled them off this duty; 
McCulloch sent them to track down retreating Comanches from a recent raid on the northwest frontier. They did so 
for nearly a week with no success. Quantrill is credited with ending a near-riot of county “war widows” who were 
convinced that the Confederate commissary in Sherman was withholding from them such “luxury goods” as coffee, 
tea, and sugar. During this winter Quantrill’s lieutenant, William (Bloody Bill) Anderson, took some of the men to or-
ganize his own group. With two such groups in the area, residents of Grayson and Fannin counties became targets 
for raids, and acts of violence proliferated so much that regular Confederate forces had to be assigned to protect 
residents from the activities of the irregular Confederate forces.

Finally, General McCulloch determined to rid North Texas of Quantrill’s influence. On March 28, 1864, when Quantrill 
appeared at Bonham as requested, McCulloch had him arrested on the charge of 
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ordering the murder of a Confederate major. Quantrill escaped that day and returned to his camp near Sherman, 
pursued by over 300 state and Confederate troops. He and his men crossed the Red River into Indian Territory, 
where they resupplied from Confederate stores. Except for a brief return in May, Quantrill’s activities in Texas were 
at an end. His authority over his followers disintegrated completely when they elected George Todd, a former lieu-
tenant to Quantrill, to lead them. In an attempt to regain his prestige Quantrill concocted a plan to lead a company 
of men to Washington and assassinate President Abraham Lincoln. He assembled a group of raiders in Lafayette 
County, Missouri, in November and December 1864, but the strength of Union troops east of the Mississippi River 
convinced him that his plan could not succeed. Quantrill returned, therefore, to his normal pattern of raiding. With a 
group of thirty-three men, he entered Kentucky early in 1865. In May or early June of that year a Unionist irregular 
force surprised his group near Taylorsville, Kentucky, and in the evening battle Quantrill was shot through the spine. 
He died at the military prison at Louisville, Kentucky, on June 6, 1865.
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XXI. Francis Richard Lubbock
Written by Louis Mitchell

Francis R. Lubbock, governor of Texas, was born on October 16, 1815, in 
Beaufort, South Carolina, the oldest son of Dr. Henry Thomas Willis and 
Susan Ann (Saltus) Lubbock and brother of Thomas S. Lubbock. At age 
fourteen, after his father’s death, he quit school and took a job as a clerk 
in a hardware store. He later pursued a business career in South Carolina 
and then in New Orleans, and continued his business activities when he 
moved to Texas in 1836. He was married three times-first to Adele Baron 
of New Orleans in 1835; then to Mrs. Sarah E. Black Porter, the widow of 
a Presbyterian minister, in 1883; and then, after his second wife’s death, to 
Lou Scott in 1903. In 1837 Lubbock moved to Houston, Texas, where he 
opened a general store. During the 1840s he began his ranching opera-
tions. Lubbock was a lifelong Democrat. He began his association with the 
Democratic party during the nullification crisis in South Carolina in 1832. 
In Texas he continued his political involvement and was appointed comp-
troller of the Republic of Texas by President Sam Houston. He was also 
elected clerk of the Harris County district court and served from 1841 to 
1857.

In the 1850s Lubbock was active in state Democratic politics. In the party convention of 1856 he fought against the 
American (or Know-Nothing) party. He was elected lieutenant governor in 1857 but lost his race for reelection in 
1859, when Sam Houston and  were elected. In 1860 Lubbock served as a Texas delegate to the national Demo-
cratic convention at Charleston, where the southern delegation walked out in opposition to the Democratic platform 
and Stephen A. Douglas, the party’s nominee. After the southerners’ second walkout on the Democrats at Baltimore, 
the southern Democratic party nominated John C. Breckinridge at their convention in Richmond, Virginia, a conven-
tion chaired by Lubbock.

In 1861 Lubbock won the governorship of Texas by only 124 votes. As governor he staunchly supported the Confed-
eracy and worked to improve the military capabilities of Texas. He chaired the state military board, which attempted 
to trade cotton and United States Indemnity Bonds for military goods through Mexico. He also worked with the board 
to establish a state foundry and percussion-cap factory. Lubbock vigorously supported Confederate conscription, op-
posing draft exemptions for able-bodied men as unfair and the substitution system as advantageous to the wealthy. 
Viewing the use of whites in government contracting and cattle driving as wasteful, he encouraged their replacement 
with slaves to increase enlistment. Aliens residing in Texas were also made subject to the draft. Lubbock exempted 
frontier counties from the Confederate draft and enlisted their residents for local defense against Indian attack.

When his term of office ended, Lubbock chose to enter the military service. He was appointed lieutenant colonel and 
served as assistant adjutant general on the staff of Maj. Gen. John Bankhead Magruder. He organized troop-trans-
port and supply trains for the Red River campaign against Gen. Nathaniel P. Banks. Lubbock was later transferred to 
the staff of Brig. Gen. Thomas Green. After Green’s death, Lubbock’s commander was Maj. Gen. John A. Wharton, 
whom Lubbock assisted in raising additional Texas troops for the Red River operations. In August 1864 Lubbock 
was appointed aide-de-camp to Jefferson Davis and traveled to Richmond. As an expert on the Trans-Mississippi 
Department, he provided Davis with firsthand information on the war west of the Mississippi River. At the end of the 
war Lubbock fled Richmond with Davis and was captured by federal authorities in Georgia. He was imprisoned in 
Fort Delaware and kept in solitary confinement for eight months before being paroled. 

After his release he returned to Texas. He soon tired of ranching and went into business in Houston and Galveston, 
where he served as tax collector. From 1878 to 1891 he was treasurer of the state of Texas. From 1891 until his 
death he continued to live in Austin, where he died on June 22, 1905.



page 49page 49

XXII. Oran Milo Roberts
Written by Ford Dixon

Oran M. Roberts, jurist and gover-
nor of Texas, son of Obe and Mar-
garet (Ewing) Roberts, was born 
in Laurens District, South Caro-
lina, on July 9, 1815. He was edu-
cated at home until he was seven-
teen, then entered the University 
of Alabama in 1832, graduated 
four years later, and was admitted 
to the bar in 1837. After serving a 
term in the Alabama legislature, 
where he was an admirer of John 
C. Calhoun, he moved in 1841 to 
San Augustine, Texas, where he 
opened a successful law practice. 
Roberts was appointed a district 
attorney by President Sam Hous-
ton in 1844. Two years later, after Texas had become a state, he was appointed district judge by Governor James 
Pinckney Henderson. In addition to his duties on the bench, he also served as president of the board and lecturer in 
law for the University of San Augustine, where he showed marked talent as a teacher. In 1856 Roberts ran for and 
won a position on the Texas Supreme Court, where he joined his friend Royal T. Wheeler, the chief justice. Dur-
ing this time Roberts became a spokesman for states’ rights, and when the secessionist crisis appeared in 1860, 
he was at the center of the pro-Confederate faction. In January 1861 he was unanimously elected president of the 
Secession Convention in Austin, a meeting that he had been influential in calling. Along with East Texas colleagues 
George W. Chilton and John S. Ford, Roberts led the passage of the ordinance removing Texas from the Union in 
1861. In 1862 he returned to East Texas, where he helped raise a regiment, the Eleventh Texas Infantry of Walker’s 
Texas Division. His military career was brief. After seeing very little combat and after an unsuccessful attempt to gain 
a brigadiership, Roberts returned to Austin as chief justice of the Texas Supreme Court in 1864. He held this position 
until he was removed along with other state incumbents in 1865.

During Reconstruction he was elected a delegate to the Constitutional Convention of 1866 and also, along with 
David G. Burnet, was elected United States senator. As Roberts had anticipated, the new majority of Radical Re-
publicans in Congress refused to seat the entire Texas delegation along with the delegations of other southern 
states. After his rejection, about which he later wrote an article entitled “The Experience of an Unrecognized Sena-
tor,” published in the Quarterly of the Texas State Historical Association (now the Southwestern Historical Quarterly) 
in 1908. Roberts eventually returned to Gilmer, Texas, where he opened a law school in 1868. Among his students 
were a future Texas Supreme Court justice, Sawnie Robertson, and a Dallas district judge, George N. Aldredge. 
With the return of the Democrats to power in Austin in 1874, Roberts was first appointed, then elected, to the Texas 
Supreme Court. He served as chief justice for four years and was involved in rewriting much of Texas civil law. In 
1878 he was elected governor of Texas on a platform of post-Reconstruction fiscal reform. His two gubernatorial 
terms were marked by a reduction in state expenditures. His plan for countering the high taxes and state debt of the 
Reconstruction years became known as “pay as you go.” A major part of this plan involved the sale of public lands to 
finance the debt and to fund public schools. Though ultimately successful in both reducing the debt and increasing 
the public school fund, the decreased government appropriations under Roberts halted public school growth for a 
time. Also, his land policy tended to favor large ranchers and companies in the development of West Texas. None-
theless he remained popular with rural landowners, largely because he lowered taxes, as well as with land specula-
tors. The present Capitol in Austin was contracted during Roberts’s terms, and the cornerstone for the University of 
Texas was laid in 1882. Railroad mileage increased across West Texas, and the frontier became more secure.



page 50page 50

In 1883, shortly before Roberts’s term as governor ended, the University of Texas opened in Austin. Upon his retire-
ment Roberts was immediately appointed professor of law, a position he held for the next ten years. During this pe-
riod he was immensely influential in the state’s legal profession. His impact on a generation of young attorneys was 
symbolized by the affectionate title “Old Alcalde” bestowed on him by his students. During his tenure at the univer-
sity, Roberts wrote several professional works, among them a text, The Elements of Texas Pleading (1890), which 
was used for decades after his retirement from teaching. In 1893 he left the university and moved to Marble Falls, 
where he turned his attention to more general historical writings. His essay “The Political, Legislative, and Judicial 
History of Texas for its Fifty Years of Statehood, 1845–1895” was published in an early general history of the state, 
Comprehensive History of Texas, 1685 to 1897 (1898), edited by Dudley G. Wooten. Roberts’s chapters on Texas in 
volume eleven of C. A. Evans’s Confederate Military History (1899) stress the role of the Lone Star State in the Civil 
War. With his interest in Texas history unabated, Roberts returned to Austin in 1895. Here, along with several other 
prominent Texans, he participated in forming the Texas State Historical Association. He served as the organization’s 
first president and submitted several of the first articles published in its Quarterly. Roberts was married to Francis W. 
Edwards of Ashville, Alabama, from 1837 until her death in 1883. They were the parents of seven children. In 1887 
Roberts married Mrs. Catherine E. Border. He died at his home in Austin on May 19, 1898, and was buried in Oak-
wood Cemetery.
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XXIII. Edmund Jackson Davis
Written by Carl H. Moneyhon

Edmund J. Davis, Union Army officer and Reconstruction governor of 
Texas, was born at St. Augustine, Florida, on October 2, 1827, the son of 
William Godwin and Mary Ann (Channer) Davis. His grandfather Godwin 
Davis, an Englishman, had settled in Virginia and had fought and died in 
the Revolutionary War. His father, who had lived in South Carolina, was a 
land developer and attorney at St. Augustine. The young Davis received 
his education in Florida and moved with his family to Galveston, Texas, in 
January 1848. There he worked as a clerk in the post office and studied 
law. In mid-1849 he moved to Corpus Christi, where he worked in a store 
and read law. He was admitted to the bar in the fall of 1849. Between 
1849 and 1853 he was an inspector and deputy collector of customs at 
Laredo. In 1853 he became district attorney of the Twelfth Judicial District 
at Brownsville. About 1856 Governor Elisha M. Pease named him judge of 
the same district, and Davis continued to serve as a state judge until 1861. 
As judge he accompanied the ranger unit of Capt. William G. Tobin, who 
was involved in the Cortina affair at Brownsville in 1859.

On April 6, 1858, Davis married Elizabeth Anne Britton, daughter of Forbes Britton, a state senator and friend of 
Sam Houston. The couple had two sons, Britton and Waters. Britton was born in 1860, attended West Point, and 
became an officer in the United States Army. Waters, born in 1862, attended the University of Michigan and became 
an attorney and merchant in El Paso.

Davis was a Whig until the mid-1850s. In 1855 he joined the Democratic party in a fusion against the American 
(Know-Nothing) party, and he remained a Democrat until after the Civil War. In later politics he supported Sam Hous-
ton and opposed secession in 1861, when he ran unsuccessfully to become a delegate to the Secession Conven-
tion. After secession Davis refused to take the oath of loyalty to the Confederacy, and the state vacated his judge-
ship on April 24.

As a result of his opposition to the Confederacy, he fled the state in May 1862. With John L. Haynes and William 
Alexander, he went to New Orleans, then to Washington, where the men met with President Abraham Lincoln, who 
recommended providing arms to troops that they wanted to raise. On October 26, 1862, Davis received a colonel’s 
commission and authorization to recruit the cavalry regiment that became the First Texas Cavalry (U.S.).

Davis and the First Texas saw extensive service during the remainder of the war. They were at Galveston on Janu-
ary 3, 1863, and barely escaped capture when Confederates took that city back from Union hands. On March 15, 
1863, Confederate citizens and off-duty soldiers seized Davis in Matamoros, where he was attempting to take his 
family out of Texas and recruit men for his unit. This event precipitated diplomatic trouble between the Confederacy 
and Mexico that lasted until Gen. Hamilton P. Bee released Davis to appease Mexican governor Albino López. From 
November to December 1863 Davis was in Texas as a part of Gen. Nathaniel P. Banks’s unsuccessful Rio Grande 
campaign. His unit marched to Rio Grande City and seized cotton and slaves in an effort to disrupt the border trade. 
On November 4, 1864, Davis was promoted to brigadier general. For the rest of the war he commanded Gen. 
Joseph J. Reynolds’s cavalry in the Division of Western Mississippi. On June 2, 1865, he was among those who 
represented Gen. Edward R. S. Canby at Gen. Edmund Kirby Smith’s surrender of Confederate forces in Texas.



page 53page 53

Davis participated in state politics as a Unionist and Republican after the war. He served in the Constitutional Con-
vention of 1866 and ran unsuccessfully for the state Senate from his old district in the 1866 general election. He 
represented the border district and was president of the Constitutional Convention of 1868–69. In this period he 
consistently supported political programs that would have restricted the political rights of secessionists, expanded 
rights for blacks, and divided the state. He also favored the ab initio theory, which held that all laws passed since 
secession were null and void.

In the election of 1869 Davis ran for governor against Andrew J. Hamilton, another Republican, and won in a closely 
disputed race. His administration was a controversial one. Its program called for law and order backed by a State 
Police and restored militia, public schools, internal improvements, bureaus of immigration and geology, and protec-
tion of the frontier. All of these measures encountered strong attacks from both Democratic and Republican oppo-
nents and added to the controversy surrounding Reconstruction in Texas. Davis ran for reelection in December 1873 
and was defeated by Richard Coke by a vote of two to one. Davis believed that the Republican national administra-
tion was partly responsible for his defeat, and relations between the governor and Washington were strained until he 
was removed from office by Democrats the following January in what is known as the Coke-Davis controversy.

From 1875 until his death Davis, contemporarily described as a “tall, gaunt, cold-eyed, rather commanding figure,” 
headed the Republican party in Texas as chairman of the state executive committee. In 1880 he ran again for gov-
ernor but was badly defeated by Oran M. Roberts. In 1882 he ran for Congress in the Tenth District against John 
Hancock, again unsuccessfully. He was nominated as collector of customs at Galveston in 1880 but refused the job 
because of his opposition to the administration of President Rutherford B. Hayes. Supporters recommended him for 
a cabinet position under President Chester A. Arthur, but he received no appointment. Davis died in Austin on Febru-
ary 7, 1883, and is buried there in the State Cemetery.
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XXIV. Andrew Jackson Hamilton
Written by James A. Marten

Andrew Jackson Hamilton, governor of Texas, son of James and Jane 
(Bayless) Hamilton, was born in Huntsville, Alabama, on January 28, 1815. 
He was educated and admitted to the bar in Alabama. Late in 1846 he 
joined his older brother, Morgan, in Texas. He practiced law in La Grange, 
Fayette County, for three years, then moved to Austin. His marriage to 
Mary Bowen, also of Alabama, produced two sons and four daughters.

Hamilton’s political career began in 1849, when Gov. Peter H. Bell appoint-
ed him acting attorney general. He also represented Travis County for a 
single term (1851–53) in the state House of Representatives. By the 1850s 
he had become a member of the “Opposition Clique” in Texas, a faction of 
the regular Democratic party that opposed secession, reopening the slave 
trade, and other Southern extremist demands. As such, in 1859 Hamilton 
won election to the United States Congress from the Western District of 
Texas. He served on the House committee formed during the secession 
winter of 1860–61 to try to solve the sectional crisis. When he returned to 
Texas in the spring of 1861 he won a special election to the state Senate, and he remained in Austin until July 1862, 
when alleged plots against his life forced him to flee to Mexico.

Hamilton became a hero in the North and delivered speeches in New York, Boston, and other Northern cities. His 
rhetorical targets included slavery, disunionists, and the “slave power,” which he believed was trying to subvert 
democracy and the rights of non-slaveowners. After he met with President Abraham Lincoln in November 1862, he 
accepted a commission as brigadier general of volunteers and an appointment as military governor of Texas. Hamil-
ton accompanied an unsuccessful federal expedition into South Texas in late 1863 and spent most of the rest of the 
war in New Orleans, where his family joined him late in 1864.

His career during Reconstruction was stormy and frustrating. As provisional governor from the summer of 1865 to 
the summer of 1866, he pursued a program of trying to limit officeholders to former Unionists, ratifying the Thirteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution, and granting economic and legal rights (although not the vote) to 
freedmen. When the Constitutional Convention of 1866 refused to enact most of Hamilton’s suggestions, he rejected 
presidential Reconstruction and promoted the harsher program of the Radical Republicans. He endorsed black 
suffrage and helped organize the Southern Loyalists’ Convention in Philadelphia in September 1866. For a time he 
served as a bankruptcy judge in New Orleans, but in 1867 he returned to Texas as an associate justice on the state 
Supreme Court.

Hamilton played a leading role in the Texas Constitutional Convention of 1868–69 and served on the Republican 
National Executive Committee. His political views changed again, however; he once again came to favor a quick re-
construction of Texas. He opposed the Radicals’ scheme for turning West Texas into a separate, Unionist state and 
withdrew his support for black suffrage. As a result, although his brother Morgan C. Hamilton was a leading Radical 
spokesman and United States senator, Hamilton became one of the state’s leading moderate Republicans and ran 
against Radical Edmund J. Davis in the 1869 governor’s race. Davis won, but Hamilton remained a vocal opponent 
of Radical policies.

Hamilton never sought public office after this defeat. In 1871 he was a leader in the Tax-Payers’ Convention. He 
practiced law and worked on his farm near Austin. He died of tuberculosis on April 11, 1875, and was buried in Oak-
wood Cemetery, Austin.
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XXV. Great Hanging at Gainesville
Written by Richard B. McCaslin

Forty suspected Unionists in Confederate Texas 
were hanged at Gainesville in October 1862. Two 
others were shot as they tried to escape. Although 
the affair reached its climax in Cooke County, men 
were killed in neighboring Grayson, Wise, and Den-
ton counties. Most were accused of treason or insur-
rection, but evidently few had actually conspired 
against the Confederacy, and many were innocent of 
the abolitionist sentiments for which they were tried.
The Great Hanging was the result of several years 
of building tension. The completion of the Butterfield 
Overland Mail route from St. Louis through Gaines-
ville brought many new people from the upper South 
and Midwest into Cooke County. By 1860 fewer 
than 10 percent of the heads of households owned 
slaves. The slaveholders increasingly feared the 
influence of Kansas abolitionists in every unrest. In 
the summer of 1860 several slaves and a northern 
Methodist minister were lynched in North Texas. 
Cooke and the surrounding counties voted against secession and thus focused the fears of planters on the non-
slaveholders in the region. Rumors of Unionist alliances with Kansas Jayhawkers and Indians along the Red River, 
together with the petition of E. Junius Foster, editor of the Sherman Patriot, to separate North Texas as a new free 
state, brought emotions to a fever pitch.

Actual opposition to the Confederacy in Cooke County began with the Conscription Acts of April 1862. Thirty men 
signed a petition protesting the exemption of large slaveholders from the draft and sent it to the Congress at Rich-
mond. Brig. Gen. William Hudson, commander of the militia district around Gainesville, exiled their leader, but others 
who remained used the petition to enlist a nucleus for a Union League in Cooke and nearby counties. The mem-
bers were not highly unified, and their purposes differed with each clique. Most joined to resist the draft and provide 
common defense against roving Indians and renegades. Rumors began to circulate, however, of a membership of 
over 1,700 and of plans for an assault when the group had recruited enough men. Fearing that the stories of Union-
ist plots to storm the militia arsenals at Gainesville and Sherman might prove to be true, Hudson activated the state 
troops in North Texas in late September 1862 and ordered the arrest of all able-bodied men who did not report for 
duty.

Texas state troops led by Col. James G. Bourland arrested more than 150 men on the morning of October 1. In 
Gainesville he and Col. William C. Young of the Eleventh Texas Cavalry, home on sick leave, supervised the collec-
tion of a “citizen’s court” of twelve jurors. Bourland and Young together owned nearly a fourth of the slaves in Cooke 
County, and seven of the jurors chosen were slaveholders. Their decision to convict on a majority vote was a bad 
omen for the prisoners, all of whom were accused of insurrection or treason and none of whom owned slaves. The 
military achieved its goal of eliminating the leadership of the Union League in Cooke County when the jury con-
demned seven influential Unionists, but an angry mob took matters into its own hands and lynched fourteen more 
before the jurors recessed. Violence in Gainesville peaked the next week when unknown assassins killed Young and 
James Dickson. The decision already made to release the rest of the prisoners was reversed, and many were tried 
again. Nineteen more men were convicted and hanged. Their execution was supervised by Capt. Jim Young, Colo-
nel Young’s son. Brig. Gen. James W. Throckmorton prevented the execution of all but five men in Sherman, but in 
Decatur, Capt. John Hale supervised a committee that hanged five suspects. A Southern partisan shot a prisoner in 
Denton.
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Texas newspapers generally applauded the hangings, disparaged the 
Unionists as traitors and common thieves, and insisted they had mate-
rial support from Kansas abolitionists and the Lincoln administration. The 
state government condoned the affair. Gov. Francis Richard Lubbock, an 
ardent Confederate, praised Hudson for his actions, and the legislature 
paid the expenses of the troops in Gainesville. Articles from the Texas 
press were reprinted across the South. President Jefferson Davis, embar-
rassed, abandoned his demand for an inquiry into a similar incident involv-
ing northern troops in Palmyra, Missouri, and dismissed Gen.  Hébert as 
military commander of Texas for his improper use of martial law in several 
instances, including the hangings. The northern press heralded the story 
as another example of Rebel barbarism. Andrew Jackson Hamilton, a 
former congressman from Texas and a Unionist, had been speaking in the 
North warning of the danger to loyal citizens in Texas. Reports of the Great 
Hanging and other incidents lent support to his campaign and led to his 
appointment as military governor of Texas and the disastrous Red River 
campaign of 1864.

The unrest did not end with the hangings in North Texas. Albert Pike, Confederate brigadier general in charge of In-
dian Territory, was implicated in testimony and arrested. Although later released, Pike continued to be regarded with 
suspicion and served the rest of the war in civilian offices. Capt. Jim Young killed E. Junius Foster for applauding the 
death of his father. He also tracked down Dan Welch, the man he believed to be his father’s assassin, then returned 
with him to Cooke County and had him lynched by some of the family slaves. The Union League was powerless to 
exact revenge; many members fled along with the families of the slain prisoners, leaving bodies unclaimed for burial 
in a mass grave. A North Texas company of Confederate soldiers in Arkansas learned of the executions and almost 
mutinied, but tempers were defused by Brig. Gen. Joseph O. Shelby, their commander. Several men later deserted 
to return home, but Shelby prevented a mass assault on Gainesville. The half-hearted prosecution of those respon-
sible for the hangings after the war, resulting in the conviction of only one man in Denton, increased resentment 
among the remaining Unionists in North Texas, but the failure of a Union League march on Decatur indicated the 
futility of further attempts at retaliation.
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XXVI. Juneteenth
Written by Teresa Palomo Acosta

On June 19 (“Juneteenth”), 1865, Union general Gordon Granger arrived 
in Galveston and issued General Order Number 3, which read in part, 
“The people of Texas are informed that, in accordance with a proclama-
tion from the Executive of the United States, all slaves are free. This 
involves an absolute equality of personal rights and rights of property 
between former masters and slaves, and the connection heretofore exist-
ing between them becomes that between employer and hired labor.” The 
tidings of freedom reached the approximately 250,000 slaves in Texas 
gradually as individual plantation owners informed their bondsmen over 
the months following the end of the war. The news elicited an array of 
personal celebrations, some of which have been described in The Slave 
Narratives of Texas (1974). The first broader celebrations of Juneteenth 
were used as political rallies and to teach freed African American about 
their voting rights. Within a short time, however, Juneteenth was marked 
by festivities throughout the state, some of which were organized by of-
ficial Juneteenth committees.

The day has been celebrated through formal thanksgiving ceremonies at which the hymn “Lift Every Voice” fur-
nished the opening. In addition, public entertainment, picnics, and family reunions have often featured dramatic 
readings, pageants, parades, barbecues, and ball games. Blues festivals have also shaped the Juneteenth remem-
brance. In Limestone County, celebrants gather for a three-day reunion organized by the Nineteenth of June Orga-
nization. Some of the early emancipation festivities were relegated by city authorities to a town’s outskirts; in time, 
however, black groups collected funds to purchase tracts of land for their celebrations, including Juneteenth. A com-
mon name for these sites was Emancipation Park. In Houston, for instance, a deed for a ten-acre site was signed in 
1872, and in Austin the Travis County Emancipation Celebration Association acquired land for its Emancipation Park 
in the early 1900s; the Juneteenth event was later moved to Rosewood Park. In Limestone County the Nineteenth of 
June Association acquired thirty acres, which has since been reduced to twenty acres by the rising of Lake Mexia.

Particular celebrations of Juneteenth have had unique beginnings or aspects. In the state capital Juneteenth was 
first celebrated in 1867 under the direction of the Freedmen’s Bureau and became part of the calendar of public 
events by 1872. Juneteenth in Limestone County has gathered “thousands” to be with families and friends. At one 
time 30,000 blacks gathered at Booker T. Washington Park, known more popularly as Comanche Crossing, for the 
event. One of the most important parts of the Limestone celebration is the recollection of family history, both under 
slavery and since. Another of the state’s memorable celebrations of Juneteenth occurred in Brenham, where large, 
racially mixed crowds witness the annual promenade through town. In Beeville, black, white, and brown residents 
have also joined together to commemorate the day with barbecue, picnics, and other festivities.

Juneteenth declined in popularity in the early 1960s, when the civil-rights movement, with its push for integration, di-
minished interest in the event. In the 1970s African Americans’ renewed interest in celebrating their cultural heritage 
led to the revitalization of the holiday throughout the state. At the end of the decade Representative Al Edwards, a 
Democrat from Houston, introduced a bill calling for Juneteenth to become a state holiday. The legislature passed 
the act in 1979, and Governor William P. Clements, Jr., signed it into law. The first state-sponsored Juneteenth cel-
ebration took place in 1980.

Juneteenth has also had an impact outside the state. Black Texans who moved to Louisiana and Oklahoma have 
taken the celebration with them. In 1991 the Anacostia Museum of the Smithsonian Institution sponsored “June-
teenth ‘91, Freedom Revisited,” featuring public speeches, African-American arts and crafts, and other cultural 
programs. There, as in Texas, the state of its origin, Juneteenth has provided the public the opportunity to recall the 
milestone in human rights the day represents for African Americans.
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